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Corporate
Profile
Mission Statement
Our mission is to be a catalyst for the development of a dynamic small to medium sized
business sector through the provision of non-traditional ﬁnancing instruments and
professional expertise to businesses in the productive sectors, with strong proﬁt making and
growth potential.

Guiding Philosophy
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited is committed to fostering the growth of young, dynamic
Barbadian ﬁrms with superior entrepreneurial talent.

Board of Directors
The business of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) is conducted under the oversight of
the Board of Directors. As of March 31, 2020 EGFL’s Board of Directors was composed of the
9 members shown.

Principal Activities
On January 2, 1998 Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) commenced operations as a
limited liability company to provide venture capital, advisory services and technical assistance
to its client companies in the small and medium sized enterprise (SME) sector.
Within a few years of its inception, EGFL’s core activities evolved to include fund management
services to a number of dedicated, sector-speciﬁc Funds established by the Government of
Barbados to provide ﬁnancing to assist with the retooling of the productive sectors of the
economy.
These developments have enabled EGFL to cater to a wider cross-section of businesses in
fulﬁlling its mandate of providing developmental ﬁnance to the critical SME sector.
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Chairman’s
Statement
CONDÉ RILEY
The timing of the COVID-19 pandemic was
particularly unfortunate for Barbados as
the country had started showing signs of
escaping the economic malaise that has
constrained growth for at least a decade.
The pandemic’s debilitating eﬀects were ﬁrst
experienced near the end of the ﬁrst quarter
of 2020 as economic activity was severely
curtailed in an eﬀort to halt the spread of
the virus and contain its impact.
Notwithstanding the pandemic’s initial
eﬀects, EGFL was able to sustain a credible
ﬁnancial performance for the year ended
March 31, 2020. During the year under
review, EGFL generated a proﬁt of $378,000
on revenues of $3.81 million. This compares
with a proﬁt of $395,000 registered in the
last ﬁnancial year and revenues of $3.73
million. While loan write-oﬀs of $77,000,
impairment losses of $142,000 and a loss of
$169,000 on the revaluation of the pension
plan reduced proﬁtability, we achieved a
surplus for a sixteenth consecutive year.
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Subsequent to the ﬁnancial year-end, as
the contagion spread across the country’s
economic landscape, EGFL assisted clients
with their cash ﬂow management by
providing moratoria on loan payments. This
initiative will help to cushion the devastating
impact of the novel coronavirus as
businesses seek to survive. Indications are
that further assistance may be needed by
some enterprises when the initial moratoria
expire and EGFL stands ready to help in this
regard.
While the future looks bleak at this time,
indications are that opportunities will be
available in the agriculture and renewable
energy sectors. These areas of economic
activity provide the fuel needed by
Barbadians and the economy that we have
built. They also represent opportunities to
save valuable foreign exchange. EGFL will
continue to support the entrepreneurs in
these and other sectors as small businesses
seek to ride out this pandemic.

Economic Review
Although the Barbados economy declined by
an estimated 0.1% for 2019, this performance
represented an improvement compared to 2018
when there was a provisional decline of 0.4%.
The tradeable sector, led by tourism, expanded
by an estimated 0.8% for 2019 while nontradeables, inclusive of construction, transport
and distribution, declined by an estimated 0.4%.
Inﬂation trended upwards slightly, moving from
3.7% in 2018 to 4.1% for 2019. The drought
conditions experienced in 2019 and the impact
of the sargassum seaweed on ﬁsh catches
helped push up food prices and consumers
were obliged to contribute more to the provision
of transportation, water and sewage services by
state enterprises.
Foreign reserves increased by 48% between
December 2018 and December 2019, to
measure $1.48 billion at December 2019. The
increase was attributed to higher travel receipts,
as tourism expanded by 3.0%, low oil prices and
signiﬁcant ﬁnancing obtained from the IMF as
part of the economic restructuring programme.
In line with the sluggish economic performance
registered for 2019, the credit outstanding
to the non-ﬁnancial private sector saw no
growth. Instead, banks and other deposittaking institutions focused on repairing their
balance sheets during the year, as they sought
to recover from the negative impact of the
government’s debt restructuring programme
and the adoption of IFRS 9. As a consequence,
the return on assets during 2019 for the
commercial banking sector improved to 0.5%,
after registering -0.2% for 2018.
While the economic performance during
2019 was stagnant, it turned decidedly
negative in the ﬁrst quarter of 2020 as the
novel coronavirus induced a 16.2% decline in
tourism output compared to the ﬁrst quarter
of 2019. Overall economic output contracted

by 3.0% in the quarter to March 31, 2020, as
unprecedented numbers of workers lost their
jobs. Consequently, the outlook for calendar
year 2020 is a double-digit decline in economic
activity as the country embarks on the long,
diﬃcult road to recovery.

Performance Review
EGFL and the Funds Under Management
recorded
improved
approvals
and
disbursements for the year ended March 31,
2020, with these measures registering $11.03
million and $7.19 million respectively. These
compare to $6.15 million and $6.12 million
respectively for the previous ﬁnancial year. The
resurgent demand witnessed in the renewable
energy space was mostly responsible for the
signiﬁcant increase in approvals.
The Agricultural Development Fund (ADF)
generated revenue of $844,000 in 2020, which
represented a 32.5% decrease compared to the
$1.25 million generated in 2019. Due to this
signiﬁcant decline in revenue and substantial
loan and dividend write-oﬀs totalling $2.33
million, the Fund recorded a net loss of $2.18
million, which contrasted with the net income of
$889,000 earned in 2019.
In 2020, of the ﬁve (5) ADF loan applications
received, three (3), totalling $1.28 million, were
approved. Loan disbursements of $979,000 were
recorded in 2020, which compared favourably
with the $161,000 disbursed in 2019. No grants
were disbursed in 2020, while grant funding
amounted to $754,000 in 2019. Consequently,
total grant disbursements since the Fund’s
inception remained at $104.92 million by the
end of the 2020 ﬁnancial year. Capital injections
by the Government of Barbados to the Fund
during the period under review amounted to $3
million.
The Energy Smart Fund (ESF) recorded a
net loss of $326,000 in 2020 compared to a
shortfall of $183,000 in 2019. Though the Fund
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registered a reasonable increase in interest
income for 2020, this was eclipsed by the
prepaid short-term beneﬁts expense which is
the amortised diﬀerence in loan values at the
Fund’s concessionary interest rate of 3.75% and
the market rate and provisions of $285,000.

realized in 2019. Loan approvals totalled
$200,000 while loan disbursements of $202,000
were recorded during the period under review.
Total disbursements from this Fund since its
inception amounted to $19.79 million by the
end of the 2020 ﬁnancial period.

Loan reﬂows were used to ﬁnance the
commercial sector’s continued high demand for
renewable energy (RE) and energy eﬃciency (EE)
ﬁnancing since the ESF was fully committed in
2017. However, the Fund’s capacity to provide
ﬁnancing was boosted during the year under
review by a supplemental injection of $2.5
million from the Government of Barbados in
May 2019.

Despite revenues increasing in 2020 compared
to 2019, the loss registered by the Innovation
Fund (IF) increased from $96,000 in 2019 to
$108,000 in 2020. The new policy framework
for the management of the $1.0 million capital
injection made by the government during the
year under review has not been completed, thus
there were no approvals. EGFL will be seeking
to obtain greater clarity about the proposed
new direction of the IF so that innovative
entrepreneurs can beneﬁt from this source of
funding.

The ESF approved loans totalling $5.20 million
during the period compared to approved
loans totalling $1.79 million in the previous
year. At ﬁnancial year-end 2020, the Fund
reported cumulative loan disbursements of
$17.93 million to the local business community.
Moreover, grants totalling $2.69 million have
been disbursed for technical assistance and
other initiatives since inception.
There has been a concerted eﬀort by the
Government of Barbados through its budgetary
proposals, public awareness programmes and
applied initiatives to signiﬁcantly reduce the
volume of foreign reserves consumed by the
importation of fossil fuels, improve the island’s
carbon footprint and build a sustainable energy
sector. These eﬀorts have been generally
endorsed by the public and private sectors, as
well as the wider community, given the proven
beneﬁts of RE and EE technologies.
The Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
(IIEF) generated revenue of $363,000 in 2020,
which represented a 4.0% increase compared
to the $349,000 achieved in the previous
ﬁnancial year. Despite this improvement, the
Fund incurred a net loss of $6,000 in 2020,
which contrasted with net income of $9,000
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During the ﬁnancial year ended March 31,
2020, there were no approvals under the
Trade Receivables Liquidity Facility (TRLF) as
EGFL’s access to this ﬁnancing window ceased.
Government has made a concerted eﬀort to
liquidate payables outstanding to SMEs as part
of the economic restructuring exercise.
Activity within the Small Hotel Investment
Fund (SHIF) was very subdued during 2020.
Approvals of $550,000 were recorded during
the period while disbursements totalled
$17,000. This outturn compares to an even
slower 2019 when there were no loan approvals
and disbursements totalled $1,000. The Fund
registered a small loss of $23,000 at March
2020, a reversal of the $81,000 proﬁt recorded
during the previous year. Due to the pandemic
caused by COVID-19, the outlook for the tourism
sector is projected to be bleak in the short-term;
however, owners of small hotels on the island
are being encouraged to use this opportunity
to improve their product and service oﬀerings
to enhance their competitive position in the
market.

Hoteliers’ interest in the Tourism Loan Fund
(TLF) waned over the 2020 ﬁnancial period. The
decline in loan applications received from two
(2) in 2019 to zero in 2020 is testament to this
assertion. Further evidence was provided by the
steep drop in disbursements from $2.21 million
in 2019 to $31,000 in 2020. Since inception,
$71.82 million in loans was approved from this
Fund while $55.41 million was disbursed.
The TLF’s net income of $299,000 for 2020
represented a 42.3% decline relative to the
surplus of $518,000 realized in 2019. Further
deterioration of this Fund’s performance is
anticipated over the next ﬁnancial period due
to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the
tourism sector. However, this potential negative
outcome for the Fund may be mitigated if
hoteliers use the current ‘downtime’ to access
funds to upgrade and improve the quality of
their room inventory for the re-start of business.

Summary and Financial Outlook for
2020-2021
The decision by the Fair Trading Commission in
September 2019 to institute a 20-year feed-intariﬀ for power supplied to the grid by renewable
energy systems led to that sector accounting
for almost half of the $11.03 million approved
across EGFL and the Funds Under Management
for the year to March 2020. EGFL also approved
$3.76 million from its own account for 2020
across various sectors.
However, while the end of another ﬁnancially
successful year for EGFL approached, Covid-19
inﬂicted severe economic pain by precipitating
the disruption of supply chains and triggering
the cancelation of commercial ﬂights and
hotel bookings which inevitably led to hotel
and restaurant closures and skyrocketing
unemployment. Eventually, local authorities
instituted an island-wide curfew and eﬀectively
closed national borders to stop the spread of
the virus.

Inevitably, these actions are expected to
reverse the beneﬁts the country started to
reap from government achieving several key
targets. These milestones included meeting
the ﬁscal targets of the BERT programme, ﬁnally
restructuring the external debt during 2019,
after swiftly achieving the same for local debt
in late 2018 and achieving success with initial
eﬀorts at streamlining the country’s regulatory
framework. With this reversal, investors are
expected to be cautious in the short to medium
term.
To stimulate economic activity and enhance
the island’s food security, the government
announced plans to boost the agriculture
sector as the panic buying of food during the
curfew highlighted citizens’ concerns about the
availability of this necessity. EGFL facilitated the
response by collaborating with the Barbados
Agricultural Development and Marketing
Corporation to launch the Food Security Fund
to increase the production of short-term crops.
The additional $3.0 million received by the
ADF during the year from the Government of
Barbados will also help to ﬁnance the critical
farming community.
As noted earlier, local authorities have also
encouraged the hotel sector to use the
‘down-time’ to undertake refurbishing of
their properties. This would also help to spur
commercial activity during these diﬃcult times.
So far, EGFL has seen some interest in this area
but property owners are still being cautious
since hotel investments usually represent
signiﬁcant commitments.
During this time of signiﬁcant uncertainty,
investors are likely to limit new investments
to areas seen as low risk. Consequently, we
believe that the uptick in activity seen in the
ESF will continue into the next ﬁnancial year as
businesses invest in assets to enhance revenue
generation and operational eﬃciency. The
expected re-capitalisation of the ESF during
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ﬁscal year 2021 will be timely and EGFL expects
to place these new resources very expeditiously.
Not only are renewable energy and energy
eﬃciency investments less risky than many
others at this time, they also have the potential
to help transform the economy since energy
costs are high across all areas of business
activity. Therefore, EGFL will continue to lead
this eﬀort by using the resources of the ESF to
help our client-class become more eﬃcient and
competitive.
Ultimately, however, the outlook for the local
economy and businesses will be determined
largely by a recovery in the fortunes of our
main trading partners. This, in turn, is closely
linked to the discovery of an eﬀective vaccine
or therapeutic treatment for COVID-19. In the
interim, EGFL will facilitate investments which
we expect to be concentrated in the highlighted
areas. The combination of these investments,
along with the assistance already extended to
our clients, will help to sustain the SME sector
during this very diﬃcult time and position small
businesses for success in the future.

Community Outreach
Educational Road Trips Programme
EGFL continued this programme, which was ﬁrst
launched in February 2017, when we sponsored
our third tour for the class 4 students from Eagle
Hall Primary School in October 2019. With the
main aim of creating an awareness of “green
energy” and exposing students to the beneﬁts of
renewable energy and energy eﬃcient solutions,
the students were given the opportunity to see
this in action while touring the Barbados Beach
Club, a hotel funded by the Energy Smart Fund.
Additionally, to give them an informative ﬁrsthand look at the business operations of other
projects in our loan portfolio, the students
learnt about the fundamental aspects of dairy
farming during a visit to Walkers Dairy.
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We are happy to report that the students had
an educational and exciting trip and eagerly
participated in question and answer sessions
at the end of each tour. We wish to express
our sincere gratitude to Barbados Beach Club
and Walkers Dairy for engaging the students in
interesting and interactive sessions.
EGFL’s Scholarship Programme
EGFL remains committed to assisting students
at The University of the West Indies (UWI)
in achieving their academic goals through
the provision of ﬁnancial assistance. We are
pleased to report that the previous scholarship
recipients have completed their undergraduate
degrees.
We congratulate them on their
achievements!
This year we continued the programme
by awarding two (2) one-year scholarships
valued at $3,000 to eligible students pursuing
undergraduate studies in Economics and
Business Finance. We extend congratulations
to the two scholarship awardees Ms Nyesha
Carter and Mr. Nicquon Nicholls. The students
were also expected to participate in EGFL’s
Internship Programme; however, due to the
emergence of COVID-19 they were unable to
undertake the internship.
Charity in Action
EGFL continued in its quest to give back to
the community in which we operate and do
business. During the period, we donated to
the Westbury Primary School in support of
their graduation and the Charity Club made a
signiﬁcant contribution to the school’s breakfast
feeding programme.
Staﬀ Team Building Event
As part of our eﬀorts to build camaraderie,
management and staﬀ participated in a Team
Building Event on May 10, 2019, coordinated by
Higher Heights at their Training Facility in Foster

Hall, St. Joseph. This was followed by lunch at the
Atlantis Hotel Restaurant, Tent Bay, St. Joseph.
The programme aimed to imbue participants
with the sense that they can perform “far beyond
their accepted limits.”
During the exercise, staﬀ engaged in many
activities designed to incorporate a range of
recreational, physical and tactical techniques to
emphasise the core values intrinsic in building
teams through collaborative eﬀorts, achieving
and maintaining eﬀective communication
and remaining motivated while coping with
challenging situations. At the end of the session,
the consensus was that the experience was
informative, enlightening, and very entertaining.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (the
“Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, the
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2020, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard
for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

1

KPMG, a Barbados and Eastern Caribbean partnership, registered in Barbados, Antigua and Barbuda, Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and a
member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
To the Shareholders of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.
A further description of the auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados’ website at:
http://www.icab.bb/about-icab/auditing. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
To the Shareholders of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with
Section 147 of the Companies Act of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinion we have formed.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
July 23, 2020
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)

Notes
Revenue:
Management fees
Evaluation fees
Interest on loans and receivables
Interest on investments
Other

16

Expenses:
Operating
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of assets
Loans written off
Impairment loss

$

9
6

Net Income
Other Comprehensive (Loss)
Re-measurement of defined benefit pension plan

13

Net income and other comprehensive income

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

2,929,228
59,715
614,861
198,346
9,739

2,839,437
43,590
590,909
242,472
11,013

3,811,889

3,727,421

2,791,228
254,325
76,858
142,146

2,877,426
279,007
12,541
-

3,264,557

3,168,974

547,332

558,447

(169,234)

(163,016)

378,098

395,431

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)

Notes

Balances, March 31, 2018

Class A
Shares

Accumulated Other
Class B
Comprehensive
Shares
Loss

$ 3,500,000

13,872,109

(5,524)

Accumulated
Surplus

Total

10,591,656

27,958,241

Dividends paid

14

-

-

-

(105,000)

(105,000)

Loss on derecognition
of investments

8

-

-

-

(561,697)

(561,697)

Write off of withholding tax

-

-

-

(141,253)

(141,253)

Net income and
Other comprehensive
Income

-

-

(163,016)

558,447

395,431

$ 3,500,000

13,872,109

(168,540)

10,342,153

27,545,722

-

-

-

-

$ 3,500,000

13,872,109

Balances, March 31, 2019
Dividends paid
Net income and
Other comprehensive
Income
Balances, March 31, 2020

14

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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(105,000)

(105,000)

(169,234)

547,332

378,098

(337,774)

10,784,485

27,818,820

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)

Notes

Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments for:
Interest on investments
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Impairment loss
Loans written off
Pension expense

$

6

Operating profit before working capital changes

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

547,332

558,447

(198,346)
254,324
142,146
76,858
(47,477)

(242,472)
279,007
12,541
42,221

774,837

649,744

Increase in accounts receivable and prepayments
(Increase) decrease in loans receivable
(Increase) decrease in due from related parties
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
Decrease in grant for technical assistance
Decrease in accrued employee benefits

(40,874)
(3,826,425)
(557,986)
(1,422)
(25,750)
(56,088)

(3,011)
984,939
490,702
1,568
(7,953)

Taxation
Interest received on investments
Contributions paid

(3,733,708)
201,659
-

2,115,989
(486)
222,648
(105,728)

(3,532,049)

2,232,423

2,809,439
(40,430)

(2,991,311)
(57,178)

2,769,009

(3,048,489)

Net cash (used in) from operating activities
Investing Activities
Sale (purchase) of investments
Purchase of fixed assets

9

Net cash from (used in) investing activities
Financing Activities
Dividends paid

14

Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year

$

(105,000)

(105,000)

(105,000)

(105,000)

(868,040)

(921,066)

1,794,855

2,715,921

926,815

1,794,855

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Incorporation and Principal Activities
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated under the Companies Act of
Barbados as a company authorised to issue an unlimited number of Class A common shares and an
unlimited number of Class B common shares without par value.
The address of the Company’s registered office is “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St.
Michael. The principal activity of the Company is the provision of venture capital and loan financing to
small and medium-sized Barbadian businesses. Additionally, the Company also provides
management services to various Funds operating in the manufacturing, agriculture, tourism and
innovation sectors (see note 16).
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on July 23, 2020.

2.

Basis of Preparation
(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(b)

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
classified as available-for-sale investments.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

8

22

Annual Report 2020

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Basis of Preparation, continued
(d)

Use of estimates and judgments
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
(i)

Provision for loan losses
The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Company
uses its judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future
payments by customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of
security.

(ii)

Fair market value of investments
Fair value of a financial asset or liability is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal,
or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Company has access at the
measurement date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
The Company values instruments carried at fair value using quoted market prices, where
available. Quoted market prices represent a Level 1 valuation. When quoted market prices are
not available, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs within valuation models.
When all significant inputs are observable, the valuation is classified as Level 2. Valuations that
require the significant use of unobservable inputs are considered Level 3.

(iii)

Employee retirement benefits
The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme. Measurement of pension costs and
pension obligations for defined benefit plans involves the application of a number of assumptions
and estimates, relating to the discount rate, future salary levels, expected employee turnover
rate, the return on plan assets, annual pension increases, expected adjustments to the National
Insurance Scheme basic amount and demographic factors. Changes in pension assumptions
will affect the pension obligations and pension cost for the period. Pension obligations are
significantly affected by changes in the discount rate, life expectancy and expected salary and
pension adjustments.

9
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Basis of Preparation, continued
(d)

Use of estimates and judgements, continued
(iv)

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment

The Company assigns useful lives and residual values to property, plant and equipment based on
periodic studies of actual asset lives and the intended use for those assets. Changes in circumstances
such as technological advances, prospective economic utilisation and physical condition of the assets
concerned could result in the actual useful lives or residual values differing from initial estimates.
Where the Company determines that the useful life of property, plant and equipment should be
shortened or residual value reduced, it depreciates the net book value in excess of the residual value
over the revised remaining useful life, thereby increasing depreciation expense. Any change in asset
lives or residual value is reflected in the Company’s financial statements when the change in estimate
is determined.
3.

Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.
(a)

Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value less provisions for estimated irrecoverable
balances.

(b)

Revenue recognition
Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on
contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest.
Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements.
Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to
support the fact that the loan is impaired.
Income from management fees
Income derived from management fees is recognised as it accrues in accordance with the provisions
of separate agreements between the Company and the trustees or sponsors for the funds under
management using contractual interest rates.

10
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
3.

Significant Accounting Policies, continued
(c)

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(d)

Investments, net
Investments comprising term deposits, which are held to maturity for a period exceeding 90 days, are
categorised as held to maturity and carried at cost. The provision for losses is made at a level
considered adequate to absorb anticipated losses considering the current economic conditions and
other relevant factors.

(e)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation
and amortisation are provided on the straight-line basis at rates based on the estimated useful life of
each asset. Land is not depreciated. The annual rates applied are:
Buildings
Office equipment
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software

-

2.0%
12.5%
20.0%
20.0%
33.3%
100.0%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
(f)

Deferred shareholder grant
Shareholder grants relating specifically to technical assistance for investees are deferred and
recognised into income as costs are incurred for such technical assistance.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
3.

Significant Accounting Policies, continued
(g)

Pension – defined benefit scheme
The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods,
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Company, the
recognised asset is limited to the present value of the economic benefits available in the form of any
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present
value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum requirements.
Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises actuarial gains and losses, the
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest),
are recognised immediately in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). The Company determines the net
interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to
the then net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense
and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.
When the benefits of the plan are changed or when the plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
The Company recognises gains or losses in the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
settlement occurs.

(h)

Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

(i)

Related parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
4.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank:

Cash on hand and at bank

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

926,815

1,794,855

Cash in bank is comprised mainly of amounts held in current accounts, which do not earn interest.
5.

Accounts Receivable and Prepayments, net
Accounts receivable and prepayments, net are comprised of:

Accounts receivable
Other receivables, prepayments and loan benefits
Less provision for bad debts
Total accounts receivable and prepayments, net
6.

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

79,189
922,792

62,858
898,249

$

1,001,981
(32,943)

961,107
(32,943)

$

969,038

928,164

Loans Receivable, net
The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the
Company. The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000. Loans shall not be used to purchase land,
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes. All
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.
When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment and
subsequent recoveries are credited to the provision for loan loss in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Company as the Fund Manager is entitled to receive an incentive
payment when one of its managed funds recovers any principal and interest in respect of any loan
which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written off the books of the Company.
Such an incentive payment shall be ten percent (10%) on the net amounts recovered.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
6.

Loans Receivable, net, continued
The grace period (i.e. the period during which only interest payments are due and payable) for loans
with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be limited to one year.
For loans with repayment periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years,
the grace period is limited to two (2) years. For loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10)
years the grace period is limited to not more than three (3) years.
Where a construction and/or installation contract is for less than the stipulated grace period, the grace
period will be limited to the length of the construction and/or installation contract.
Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property (ies) owned by the borrower(s).
The maturity structure of loans receivable, gross, is:

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

1,332,549
829,179
11,937,905

1,291,945
996,697
8,061,424

Total loans receivable

14,099,633

10,350,066

Less loan loss provision:
Balance at start of year
Impairment loss

(1,818,620)
(142,146)

1,818,620)
-

Balance at end of year

(1,960,766)

(1,818,620)

12,138,867

8,531,446

Under 1 year
1 – 5 years
Over 5 years

$

Total loans receivable, net

$

Loans receivable carry interest rates of 6.5% to 10.5% per annum at the end of 2020 (March 31, 2019:
6.5% - 10.5% per annum). However, net loans receivable includes the amount of $2,041,792
(March 31, 2019: $2,007,500) relating to staff loans. These amounts carry interest rates of 3.0% to
3.63 % per annum (March 31, 2019: 3.0% to 3.63% per annum).
The Company has invested in convertible bonds. These bonds are redeemable and bear interest at
annual rates ranging from 8% - 10%. Any unpaid interest can be converted into shares of the borrower
at $1 per share at the option of the Company. These bonds which are reflected in loans receivable,
net, amount to $238,424 (March 31, 2019: $238,424).
During the year, there were bond disbursements of $1,704 relating to fees paid for debt recovery
(March 31, 2019: $1,175) and no principal repayments (March 31, 2019: $NIL).
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Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
7.

Other Assets
Other Assets comprise:

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

Interest receivable on term deposits
Assets transferred from CRL

$

81,713
100

85,027
100

Total

$

81,813

85,127

In 2010, the Government of Barbados made a decision to wind down the operations of CRL Limited
and as a consequence, the existing portfolio of CRL Limited was assigned to the Company in return
for the equivalent value of one (1) non-voting Class B share. These assets are valued at $100 and the
relevant shares were transferred to the Government of Barbados.
8.

Investments, net

Preferred shares
Less: Provision for investment losses

$

Net balance

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

1,331,451
(1,331,451)

1,331,451
(1,331,451)

-

-

Commercial deposits

6,584,429

9,393,868

Government-issue Series “B” Bonds
Less: Loss on derecognition of investment

2,014,109
(561,697)

2,014,109
(561,697)

Net balance

1,452,412

1,452,412

8,036,841

10,846,280

Balances, end of year

$

The Company has invested in preferred shares which are subject to an annual 8% cumulative
dividend. The option to convert outstanding dividends into preferred shares was not exercised during
the financial year.
Included in investments is an amount of $6,584,429 (March 31, 2019: $9,393,868 representing
commercial deposits with maturity periods greater than 90 days. At the reporting date the effective
interest rates range from 1.75% to 2.25% per annum (March 31, 2019: 2.0% to 2.50% per annum).
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
8.

Investments, net, continued
On October 1, 2018, the Company accepted an offer from the Government of Barbados to exchange
previously held treasury bills for an equal principal amount of Series “B” bonds. All interest accrued
but unpaid through September 30, 2018 were added to the principal amount of the Series “B” bonds
received. At the reporting date the carrying value of these bonds was $2,014,109 representing the
face value of the Series B bonds received in exchange for treasury bills previously held. Since there
has been a substantial modification to the terms of the securities, the treasury bills were derecognized,
and the new Series B bonds recorded at their fair value which was estimated at $1,452,412. The bonds
are divided into strips which have terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear interest at
3% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.
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For the year ended March 31, 2020

Balance at March 31, 2019
Depreciation
Disposals

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at March 31, 2018
Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at March 31, 2019
Additions
Disposals

Cost
Balance at March 31, 2018
Additions
Disposals

$

$

$

1,720,980

-

-

-

1,720,980

1,720,980
-

1,720,980
-

Land

2,915,806

2,847,814

551,788

483,796
67,992
-

415,869
67,927
-

3,399,602

3,399,602
-

3,379,974
19,628
-

Buildings

267,907

155,901

404,128

292,122
112,006
-

180,116
112,006
-

560,029

560,029
-

560,029
-

Vehicles

75,726

37,163

856,964

818,401
38,563
-

752,858
65,543
-

894,127

894,127
-

870,678
23,449
-

Furniture

11,072

14,116

145,264

138,781
6,483
-

151,077
4,804
(17,100)

159,380

149,853
9,527
-

158,516
8,437
(17,100)

Computer
Equipment

118,958

120,581

152,411

123,131
29,280
-

103,832
28,727
(9,428)

272,992

242,089
30,903
-

258,395
5,664
(21,970)

Office
Equipment

-

-

300,909

300,909
-

300,909
-

300,909

300,909
-

300,909
-

Computer
Software

5,110,449

4,896,555

2,411,464

2,157,140
254,324
-

1,904,661
279,007
(26,528)

7,308,019

7,267,589
40,430
-

7,249,481
57,178
(39,070)

Total

Property, Plant and Equipment

(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
9.

Balance at March 31, 2020

$

1,720,980

$

Net book Value
At March 31, 2020

$

Balance at March 31, 2020

At March 31, 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
10.

Corporation tax
Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Company is exempt
from payment of tax in accordance with Income Tax Act Cap 73 which exempts entities whose funds
have been provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors
of the economy.

11.

Deferred Shareholder Grant

Grants for Tourism Relief Fund
Grants for Technical Assistance
Total

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

96,136
155,524

96,136
181,274

251,660

277,410

On February 19, 2010, the Government of Barbados announced the creation of a $25 million Tourism
Industrial Relief Fund (TIRF) to assist the tourism accommodation and ancillary services sub-sectors
to remain in business and maintain employment levels during the global economic recession. This
Fund is administered by the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL). At the end of the year ended
March 31, 2020, $96,136 (March 31, 2019: $96,136) remained undisbursed.
The Company receives grants from the Government of Barbados to contribute to the financial expertise
of the borrowers. The Company assesses requests from its borrowers on an individual basis to
determine the allocation of the funds received. At the end of the year ended March 31, 2020, $155,524
(March 31, 2019: $181,274) remained undisbursed.
12.

Due from Related Parties

Agricultural Development Fund
Energy Smart Fund
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
Innovation Fund
Small Hotels Investment Fund
Tourism Loan Fund

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

150,823
83,859
75,703
38,465
292,082
246,382

51,406
71,108
1,014
29,450
5,879
89,659
80,812

$

887,314

329,328

Amounts due from related parties consist mainly of management fees charged during the course of
the financial year in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between the Company
and the Trustees or Sponsors of the Funds under management using contractual rates (see note 16).
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12.

Due from Related Parties, Continued
Related party transactions
The related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm’s length
transaction only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

13.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan
The Company invested in a defined benefit pension plan during the year ended December 31, 2005.
The assets of the Plan are administered on behalf of the trustees by Sagicor Life Incorporated. The
amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) are as follows:
March 31
March 31
2020
2019
Statement of Financial Position
Present value of obligation at end of year
$
3,281,667
2,935,072
Minus: Fair value of plan assets at end of year
(3,602,480)
(3,377,642)
Asset recognised in the statement of financial position

$

(320,813)

(442,570)

Current service cost (reduced by Employee contributions)
Net interest on net defined benefit liability

$

93,395
(29,000)

79,385
(37,164)

Expense recognised in profit and loss

$

64,395

42,221

Actuarial (gain) loss on obligation
Return on Plan assets excluding interest income

$

(127,408)
296,642

(90,508)
253,524

Re-measurements recognised in OCI

$

169,234

163,016

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

(442,570)
64,395
169,234
(111,872)

(542,079)
42,221
163,016
(105,728)

$

(320,813)

(442,570)

Movement in net asset recognised in the statement of
financial position
Net asset at the start of the year
Amount recognised in profit and loss
Re-measurements recognised in OCI
Contributions - Employer
Net asset at the end of the year
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13.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued

Movement in present value of obligation
Present value of obligation at start of year
Interest expense
Current service cost
Less: benefits paid
Actuarial (gain) loss on assumptions
Actuarial (gain) loss on obligation
Present value of obligation at year end

Movement in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of year
Actual return on plan assets
Contributions paid – total
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

2,935,072
234,016
240,985
(998)
(127,408)

2,633,105
208,849
183,521
105
61,671
(152,179)

$

3,281,667

2,935,072

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

3,377,642
(33,626)
259,462
(998)

3,175,184
(7,511)
209,864
105

$

3,602,480

3,377,642

Plan assets are equally distributed between equity investments and government bonds.
Principal actuarial assumptions
Discount rate at end of year
7.50%
Future salary increases
6.00%
Future pension increases
0.00%
Future changes in National Insurance Scheme ceiling
2.50%
Mortality 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Static Tables for Males and Females

7.50%
6.00%
0.00%
3.50%

Historical information
2020
Present Value of the
Obligation
Fair value of plan
assets
Surplus

2019

Annual Report 2020

2017

2016

(3,281,667)

(2,935,072)

(2,633,105)

(2,347,670)

(1,845,441

3,602,480
320,813

3,377,642
442,570

3,175,184
542,079

2,694,735
347,065

2,389,511
544,070
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13.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued
Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the projected benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The table
below summarises how the projected benefit obligation measured at the end of the reporting period
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25%
+0.25%

-0.25%

3,189,405
3,344,140

3,379,806
3,221,245

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

3,500,000
13,872,109

3,500,000
13,872,109

$

17,372,109

17,372,109

Discount rate
Salary increases
14.

Share Capital

Class A Shares – 35,000 shares – no par value
Class B Shares – 138,731 shares – no par value

The holders of Class “A” shares are entitled to receive dividends in respect of their shareholding and
to vote for the election of directors of the Company. Any holder of 10,000 or more Class “A” shares is
entitled to appoint one director.
With regard to distribution or liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “A” shareholders shall
receive, before any distribution is made to the Class “B” shareholders, the stated capital of these
shares plus an amount equivalent to a 10% annual rate of return on their initial investment in the
Company, after the discharge of all liabilities of the Company.
Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government. Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company. Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders
shall receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual
rate of return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of their
entitlement as stated above.
On October 1, 2010 amounts owed to CRL Limited were transferred to the equity shareholding of the
Company in the form of 18,296 Class “B” common shares for the subscribed value of $1,829,518. The
remaining 10 Class “A” shares previously held by CRL Limited in the capital of the Company were redesignated as 10 Class “B” common shares. These shares are valued at $100 per share.
The Company declared a dividend of $105,000 (March 31, 2019: $105,000). This dividend represented
$3.00 per qualifying Class “A” Share.
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15.

Commitments
At the reporting date, there were four (4) outstanding loan commitments totalling $205,616 (March 31,
2019: $841,748).

16.

Management Fees
Management fees recognised as income (net of VAT) are as follows:

Agricultural Development Fund
Energy Smart Fund
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
Innovation Fund
Small Hotels Investment Fund
Tourism Loan Fund

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

566,245
199,414
261,105
106,596
959,601
836,267

553,498
203,515
863
263,641
79,282
916,144
822,494

$

2,929,228

2,839,437

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 were
$887,314 and $329,328 respectively.
The complete list of funds under the management of the Company is as follows:-

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agricultural Development Fund
Energy Smart Fund
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
Innovation Fund
Small Hotels Investment Fund
Tourism Loan Fund
Tourism Industry Relief Fund
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17.

Financial Risk Management
Introduction and overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•

credit risk

•

liquidity risk

•

market risk

•

operational risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the Company’s risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify
and analyse the risks faced by the Company, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks and the adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s loans and investment securities.
Loans receivable
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
borrower. A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are assessed according
to their credit risk profile. These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service
their existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine
the extent of credit risk.
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17.

Financial Risk Management, continued
Management of credit risk
The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans
receivable, by the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The
principal collateral types for loans are:

•
•
•
•

Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
Charges over business assets/bill of sale
Personal guarantees
Hypothecation of deposit balances

Financial investments
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in reputable financial institutions and
Government of Barbados securities. Government securities are generally invested over a period longer
than that of term deposits with other financial institutions. The Company has documented investment
policies in place which act as a guide to the management of credit risk on investments.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying Amount
March 31
2020

March 31
2019

Held to maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

$

8,036,841
12,138,867
926,815

10,846,280
8,531,446
1,794,855

Total

$

21,102,523

21,172,581

Credit quality by class of financial assets
Loans Receivable
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed though the prudent underwriting principles
established by management.
Cash and balances with financial institutions
The credit quality of financial institutions holding the Company’s cash resources is assessed by the
level of credit worthiness and by comparison to other financial institutions. The Company only places
its cash resources with reputable financial institutions.
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17.

Financial Risk Management, continued
The tables below show the credit quality analysis of financial assets:
March 31, 2020

Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

$

$

Neither Past due
Nor impaired

Past due but
not impaired

Individually
Impaired

Total

926,815

-

-

926,815

8,036,841
10,919,734

423,204

795,942

8,036,841
12,138,880

19,883,390

423,204

795,942

21,102,536

March 31, 2019

Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

$

$

Neither Past due
Nor impaired

Past due but
not impaired

Individually
Impaired

Total

1,794,855

-

-

1,794,855

10,846,280
7,538,866

649,828

342,753

10,846,280
8,531,447

20,180,001

649,828

342,753

21,172,582

Impairment Assessment
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due, but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available
and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the
Company’s Loan Provisioning Policy.
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17.

Financial Risk Management, continued
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are
located in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to
meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other
conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance
to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe
that the concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
Impairment losses
The aging of accounts receivable at the reporting date was:
Gross
2020

Impairment
2020

Gross
2019

Impairment
2019

Not past due
Past due 0 – 30 days
Past due 31 – 120 days
More than one year

$

148,666
33,010

32,943

62,858
33,010

32,943

Total

$

181,676

32,943

95,868

32,943

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year was as follows:

Balance at beginning of year

$

Bad debt recovered
Balance at end of year

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

32,943

32,943

-

-

32,943

32,943

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its
financial liabilities.
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17.

Financial Risk Management, continued
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. This has been facilitated
by using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending
and other expenditure.
Analysis of financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Company, based on their earliest possible contractual maturity, are due
within 30 days (March 31, 2019 – 30 days).
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on investment.
Management of Market Risk
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to
minimise instances of market risk in accordance with the Company’s Short-Term Investment Policy.
Further considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of resources in financial
institutions.
Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk is the potential risk of loss from fluctuating foreign exchange rates when an investor has
exposure to foreign currency or in foreign-currency-traded investments. The Company had no
significant exposure to currency risk at the end of the financial year.
Exposure to interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from the fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. It arises when there is a mismatch between
the interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which are subject to interest rate
adjustments, within a specified period.
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17.

Financial Risk Management, continued
An interest rate sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the impact on total loss of reasonable
possible changes in interest rates prevailing at March 31, 2018, with all other variables held constant.
The impact is illustrated and shown in the table below:
March 31
2020

Increase/(decrease) of 100 bps
Impact on comprehensive income +100 bps
Impact on comprehensive income – 100 bps

$

91,245
(91,245)

March 31
2019
78,252
(78,252)

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated
with the Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors
other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the
Company’s operations and are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures
that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the directors of the Company. Key policies and procedures used in managing
operating risk involve segregation of duties, delegation of authority and financial and managerial
reporting. Mitigation of operating risk is supported by a well-defined organisational structure that
segregates operational and administrative functions. Additionally, quarterly reviews are undertaken by
the directors of the Company.
Financial income and expense

Interest income on unimpaired loans & receivables
Interest income on bank deposits

$

Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial income

$
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March 31
2020

March 31
2019

614,861
198,346

590,909
242,472

813,207

833,381

-

-

813,207

833,381

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados dollars)
17.

Financial Risk Management, continued

Investments
Held-to-maturity investments

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

8,036,841

10,846,280

Capital risk management
Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Company defines capital as total
shareholder’s equity.
There were no changes in management’s approach to capital management during the year. The
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
18.

Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be
exchanged in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for
these financial instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated
fair values. The fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement
of Financial Position are as follows:
2020
Carrying Value
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable &
prepayments
Loans receivable, net
Preferred shares
Held to maturity investments
Due from related parties
Accounts payable

Accrued employee benefits
Deferred shareholder grant

$

926,815
969,038
12,138,867
8,036,841
887,314
(187,576)

(251,660)

2020
2019
Fair Value Carrying Value
926,815
969,038

2019
Fair Value

1,794,855
928,164

1,794,855
928,164

12,138,867
1,331,451
8,036,841
887,314
(187,576)

8,531,446
10,846,280
329,328
(188,998)

8,531,446
1,331,451
10,846,280
329,328
(188,998)

(251,660)

(56,088)
(277,410)

(56,088)
(277,410)
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18.

Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments, continued
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in Level 1.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-thecounter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in Level 2.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that
are not based on observable market data.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in Level 3.

19.

Key Management Personnel Compensation
Key management personnel compensation paid during the year was as follows:

Salaries, directors’ fees and benefits

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

1,018,163

966,489

Key management personnel are entitled to post retirement benefits under the Company’s defined
benefit pension scheme which cannot be reasonably estimated at year end.
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20.

Contingencies
At February 1, 2012, the Company signed a Bond of Guarantee with the Comptroller of Customs.
This is a general bond for securing duty on goods warehoused in a customs-controlled area with a
liability of $250,000 for goods owned by BICO Ltd.

21.

Subsequent events
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19)
outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative impact on
the operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of the Fund will depend
on future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the
restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy
overall, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and
the limited activity, management does not believe that financial performance of the Company would
be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including the reporting date.
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Skeete,

Best & Co. Chartered Accountants

Tudor Bridge, St. Michael
Barbados, W.I.
Tel. (246) 537-6626 Fax. (246) 537-5348
Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Management Committee of the
Agricultural Development Fund

Opini on

We have audited the financial statements of the Agricultural Development Fund (“the Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2020, and the statement of
comprehensive loss, statement of changes in fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs).

B asis for Opin ion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

R e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s o f M a n a g e m e n t a n d Th o s e C h a r g e d w i t h G o v e r n a n c e f o r t h e F i n a n c i a l
St at em ent s

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
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(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Agricultural Development Fund

Development

Accumulated

Fund

Deficit

Total

$

$

$

Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Balance at March 31, 2018
Grants disbursed (Note 9)

20,940,918
Development

Accumulated
(753,892)
Fund
Deficit
$

Intragovernmental debt write-offs (Note 11)
Balance at March 31, 2018
Net comprehensive income
Grants disbursed (Note 9)
Balance at March 31, 2019

20,940,918

-

Net comprehensive income
Intragovernmental debt write-offs (Note 11)

-

Funds from Government
Balance at March 31, 2020

$

-

(9,352,301)

(753,892)
20,187,026

Intragovernmental debt write-offs (Note 11)
Funds from Government

Balance at March 31, 2019
Net comprehensive loss

(9,352,301)

20,187,026

3,000,000

-

Total

(388,968)

$

(388,968)

889,360

(388,968)
3,000,000

(3,647)

889,360

(3,647)

(8,851,909)
11,335,117
(2,184,160)
(2,184,160)

3,000,000
23,187,026

-

3,000,000
(11,039,716)
12,147,310

-

(3,647)

(3,647)

Net comprehensive loss

-

(2,184,160)

(2,184,160)

(11,039,716)

12,147,310

23,187,026

(388,968)

(753,892)
11,335,117

Intragovernmental debt write-offs (Note 11)

Balance at March 31, 2020

(753,892)

11,588,617
889,360

(8,851,909)

889,360

-

-

11,588,617

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Agricultural
AgriculturalDevelopment
DevelopmentFund
Fund
Statement
StatementofofComprehensive
ComprehensiveLoss
Loss
Year
Yearended
endedMarch
March31,
31,2020
2020
(expressed
in
Barbados
dollars)
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
2020
$$
Revenue
Revenue
Dividend
Dividendincome
income(Note
(Note6)6)
Interest
Intereston
ondeposits
deposits

--

Interest
Intereston
onloans
loans

Expenses
Expenses
Bank
Bankcharges
charges

303,935
303,935

844,419
844,419

1,253,912
1,253,912

939,545
939,545
2,780
2,780

Management
ManagementCommittee
Committeefees
fees
Management
fees
(Note
5)
Management fees (Note 5)
Professional
Professionalfees
fees

Net
Netcomprehensive
comprehensive(loss)
(loss)income
income
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202
202
(331,004)
(331,004)
--

665,328
665,328
29,424
29,424

680
680
650,361
650,361
44,313
44,313

3,028,579
3,028,579

364,552
364,552

(2,184,160)
(2,184,160)

889,360
889,360

The
Theaccompanying
accompanyingnotes
notesform
forman
anintegral
integralpart
partofofthese
thesefinancial
financialstatements
statements
77

938,643
938,643
11,334
11,334

43,767
43,767
800,652
800,652

356
356
1,391,146
1,391,146

Impairment
Impairmentlosses
losses(Note
(Note10)
10)
Dividend
Dividendwrite-off
write-off(Note
(Note6)6)

2019
2019
$$

Agricultural Development Fund
Fund
Comprehensive
Loss
Statement of Cash
Flows
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
$

2020 2019
$
$

2019
$

Revenue
-

Dividend
income
(Note
6)
Cash
flows
from
operating
activities
Interest
deposits
Net
(loss)onincome

938,643

43,767
(2,184,160) 11,334 889,360
800,652
303,935

Interest on loans
Adjustment
for:

939,545
844,419
1,253,912
1,391,146
(331,004)

Dividend write-off
Provision for impairment losses
Expenses

356 146,531

Bank charges
Operating
profit before working capital changes
Impairmentdecrease
losses (Note
10) receivable
(Increase)
in interest

202 558,356

1,391,146 (76,595)
(331,004) 9,663
939,545
-(1,420,046)
(1,423,377)

Dividend
write-off (Note 6)
Loans
disbursed
Management
Loans
repaid Committee fees

2,780 464,136
665,328

Management
(Noterepaid
5)
Revolving
linefees
of credit
Professionalsale
feesof short term investment
(Purchase)

680 354,837
650,361 331,945

29,424
(2,000,000) 44,313
1,153,611

(5,516)
(5,550)
3,028,579 99,407 364,552(110,966)

Decrease in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in due to related company

(2,184,160)
(2,795,414)889,360 871,850

Net comprehensive
(loss)byincome
Cash
(used in) provided
operations

Cash flows from financing activities
3,000,000

Funds from Government

-

Grants disbursed
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

3,000,000

(753,892)
(753,892)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

204,586

117,958

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year

583,286

465,328

Cash and cash equivalents - end of the year

787,872

583,286

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Agricultural Development Fund was established in Barbados by an Act of Parliament on
December 12, 2001. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of Agriculture, are
paid into this Fund. These resources are used to finance projects and programmes that are
designed for the improved development of agriculture in Barbados.
The Fund’s operations commenced on March 28, 2002.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for
SMEs) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following
assets are stated at their fair value: financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss
and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.
Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies… c o n t i n u e d
Standards, amendments and interpretations
There were no new standards and amendments to the IFRS for SMEs during the period ended
March 31, 2020.
Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in
exchange rates are included in the statement of loss.
Taxation
The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap 73.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3) months
of maturity when acquired. These are shown at amortised cost.
Short term investments
Short term investments are investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are within three (3) to twelve (12) months of maturity when acquired. These
are shown at amortised cost.
Financial instruments
i)

Classification
Originated loans are loans created by the Fund providing money to a debtor other than
those created with the intention of short-term profit taking. Originated loans comprise
loans to customers.
Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Fund has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.
Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, originated by the Fund, or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale
instruments include certain equity investments.

ii)

Recognition
The Fund recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchasing the assets
or originating loans. From this date, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of assets are recognised.

10

Annual Report 2020

57

Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies… c o n t i n u e d
Financial instruments… c o n t i n u e d
iii)

Measurement
Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value
based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any deduction
for transaction costs. Where the instrument is not actively traded or quoted on
recognised exchanges, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow analysis.
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are
based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market related rate
at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and conditions.
Any available-for-sale asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active
market and where fair value cannot be reliably measured is stated at cost, including
transaction costs less impairment losses.
Gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of available-for-sale investments
subsequent to initial recognition are accounted for as changes in the investment
revaluation reserve.
All originated loans and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised costs less
impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method.
Premiums and discounts including initial transaction costs are included in the carrying
amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate
of the instrument.

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each financial year end to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
loss.
When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the
cumulative loss that had been recognised in reserves is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive loss even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount
of the cumulative loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of
comprehensive loss.
An originated loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety
days or more or if there is objective evidence that the fund will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the loan.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies… c o n t i n u e d
Impairment… c o n t i n u e d
i)

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the Fund’s originating loans is calculated as the present
value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at the initial recognition of these financial assets).
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

ii)

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a loan carried at amortised cost is reversed if the
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Revenue recognition
Loans and investments
Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for investments, and all other loans other
than non-accrual loans, using the effective interest method. When a loan is classified as nonaccrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the current period,
unless the loan, including accrued interest, is fully secured and in the process of collection.
Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to performing status. A
loan is classified as non-accrual when repayments are ninety (90) days or more in arrears.
Grants
The Fund provides grants to the agricultural sector to finance projects which contribute to the
long-term development and sustainability of agriculture in Barbados. Such grants, when
disbursed, are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
3.

Cash equivalents
This represents cash held at bank.

4.

Short-term investments
This is a time deposit placed with a financial institution.
Financial Institution

Date of Maturity

Interest Rate

2020
Capita Financial Services Inc.
Capita Financial Services Inc.

May 17, 2020
May 17, 2020

2.25%
2.25%

1,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000

2019
NIL
5.

Principal
$

NIL

NIL

NIL

Related party transactions
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of the
Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.
Charges of $665,328 (2019 - $650,361) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. At March 31, 2020, the
related party balances were as follows:
2020
2019
$
$
Due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

(150,813)

(51,406)

(150,813)

(51,406)

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
6.

Available-for-sale investments

Ex cl u s i v e Co t t o n s o f t h e Ca r i b b ea n I n c.
The Fund had invested $4,000,000 in 2% cumulative, redeemable, convertible Class A
preferred shares at $1 per share in Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. (ECCI) to be
redeemed no later than March 31, 2015 at a price not greater than $3.32 per share. These
shares were not redeemed at the stipulated date of March 31, 2015. In 2016 the Fund
approved a 5 year extension of the redemption date. The Fund’s total investment was
$4,000,000 (2019 - $4,000,000)
Impairment allowance recognised on this investment at year end was $4,000,000 (2019 $4,000,000).
During the financial year 2020, the Management Committee of the Fund approved the writeoff of accumulated dividends of $939,545 which was previously capitalised to the restructured
loan of Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean (“ECCI”). The committee also agreed to discontinue
all future dividend accruals.

Th e W e s t I n d i e s S u g a r & Tr a d i n g C o m p a n y L i m i t e d
At year end the Fund had invested $3,555,769 in 7% cumulative, redeemable, convertible Class
A preferred shares at a price of $1 per share in The West Indies Sugar & Trading Company
Limited (WISTCL). The Class A shares to be redeemed as follows: 3,055,769 to be redeemed
no later than December 31, 2016 at a price no less than $1.15 per share (these shares were
not redeemed at the stipulated date of December 31, 2016); 500,000 to be redeemed no later
than December 31, 2018 at a price no less than $1.15 per share. The fund reserved the right
to convert any dividends not paid within twelve calendar months of their due date into
additional Class A preferred shares at a price of $1 per share. The Fund also purchased $33,334
ordinary shares at the price of $1 per share in WISTCL, these shares were repurchased by
WISTCL on December 2, 2013. The Fund’s total investment was $3,555,769 (2019 –
$3,555,769).
During 2017, 3,555,769 7% cumulative, redeemable, convertible Class A preferred shares in
West Indies Sugar & Trading Company Limited (“WISTCL”) were redeemed for $1. Additionally,
it was agreed that WISTCL will allocate 25% of its future annual profits to the Fund over a
period of five (5) years to a maximum of $1 million. As at the end of the financial year, no
allotment has been made to the Fund.
Impairment allowance recognised on this investment at year end was $3,555,769 (2019 $3,555,769).
2020
$
Original cost
Less: Allowance for impairment

7,555,769
(7,555,769)

2019
$
7,555,769
(7,555,769)

-
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
7.

Revolving lines of credit
The revolving lines of credit at year end comprised:
Interest rate
2020
2019
%
%
Barbados Agricultural Development
& Marketing Corporation
6.5%
6.5%

Less: Intragovernmental debt write off

3,647

3,647

3,647

3,647

__ (3,647)

Provision for loan losses
Balance at April 1
Decrease in provision

-

-

3,647

2020
$

2019
$

-

Balance at March 31
8.

Outstanding balance
2020
2019
$
$

331,944
(331,944)

-

-

Loans receivable
An aged analysis of the carrying amounts of the receivable balances are presented below:
Interest rate
2020
2019
%
%
1 year
2 to 5 years
Over 5 years and up to 10 years
Over 10 years and up to 15 years

6.5-7.0
6.5-7.0
5.5-8.5
6.5-7.0

5,868,601
2,880,901
2,198,150
4,434,174

6,039,758
1,677,773
4,400,968
3,243,631

15,381,826
(5,932,154)

15,362,130
(4,541,008)

9,449,672

10,821,122

Provision for loan losses
Balance at April 1
Increase in provision

2020
$

2019
$

4,541,008
1,391,146

4,540,068
940

Balance at March 31

5,932,154

4,541,008

Less: Provision for loan losses
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Outstanding balances
2020
2019
$
$

Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
9.

Grants disbursed
During the year, the following grants were disbursed:

Barbados Agricultural Development and
Marketing Corporation
10.

-

2019
$
753,892

Impairment losses
This amount is made up as follows: -

2020
$

Decrease in revolving lines of credit provision (note 7)
Increase in provision for loan receivable losses (note 8)

11.

2020
$

2019
$

1,391,146

(331,944)
940

1,391,146

(331,004)

Intragovernmental debts write offs
On January 31, 2019, the MOFEI instructed all State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and other
public bodies to ensure that all claims on other SOEs and other public sector bodies or any
amount owed to other public sector bodies prior to September 1, 2018 be written-off.
Transactions between these entities are deemed to be related party transactions as defined
in Section 33 of the IFRS for SMEs.
These write-offs will be recognised as a contribution from the ultimate parent and therefore
taken to equity.
The following intra entity balances were written-off to equity:
Barbados Agricultural Development
& Marketing Corporation
Barbados Agricultural Management Co.
Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Barbados Revenue Authority

2020
$

2019
$

(3,647)
-

(752,735)
386,481
(22,714)

(3,647)

(368,968)
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
12.

Commitments
At the year end, the following commitments were outstanding:

Loans
13.

2020
$

2019
$

676,215

349,519

Financial risk management
a)

Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•
•
•
•

credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks,
the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the
management of capital.
Risk management framework
The Management Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework.
The Fund’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks
faced by the Fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.
b)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the
Fund’s loans and investment securities.
Management of credit risk
The Management Committee has delegated responsibility for the management of
credit risk to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related party.
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Fund determines
that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according
to the contractual terms of the loans/securities agreement(s).
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
13.

Financial risk management …c o n t i n u e d
b)

Credit risk…continued
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but
the Fund believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
The Fund monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended.
Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set out in the Fund’s credit policy.
Write off policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for
impairment) when it determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of
significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the
borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over
property, bills of sale and/or personal or government guarantees.

c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
from its financial liabilities.
Management of liquidity risk
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Fund’s reputation.
Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth Fund
Limited, a related party.

d)

Market risk
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal
course of business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a
financial commitment to a customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the risk to
earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and their implied
volatilities.
Management of market risk
Market risk is measured in accordance with established standards.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
13.

Financial risk management …c o n t i n u e d
e)

Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of
a change in market interest rates.
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by
having pre-approved limits for repricing bands.

f)

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes,
associated with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and
from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from
legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate
behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and are faced by
all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid
control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to
address operational risk is assigned to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related
party.

14.

Segment reporting
Segment reporting which conforms with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 8
distinguishes between two business segments – Commercial division and Developmental
division and thus follows the Funds internal reporting structure. The Commercial division
encompasses those financing activities entered into with the main intention of profit generation
while the Developmental division encompasses financial support of projects with a social
emphasis.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
14.

Segment reporting…c o n t i n u e d
2020
Segment information

Commercial
$

Developmental
$

Total
$

844,419

-

844,419

Management fees
Impairment losses – loans
Loans written off
Other operating expenses

665,328
1,391,146
939,545
32,560

-

665,328
1,391,146
939,545
32,560

Total expenses

3,028,579

-

3,028,579

(2,184,160)

-

(2,184,160)

2,879,648
9,449,672
112,712,950
182,010
128,105,335
(3,245,076)

2,879,648
9,449,672
(112,712,950)
182,010
(104,918,310) 23,187,025
(7,794,640) (11,039,716)

Total revenue

Comprehensive loss
Current assets
Non-current assets
Intersegment balances
Liabilities
Funds received (disbursed)
Accumulated deficit
2019
Segment information

Commercial
$

Developmental
$

Total
$

Total revenue

1,253,912

-

1,253,912

Management fees
Impairment losses – loans
Other operating expenses

650,361
(331,004)
45,195

-

650,361
(331,004)
45,195

Total expenses

364,552

-

364,552

Comprehensive loss

889,360

-

889,360

598,467
10,824,769
112,712,950
88,119
125,105,335
(1,057,269)

(112,712,950)
(104,918,310)
(7,794,640)

598,467
10,824,769
88,119
20,187,026
(8,851,909)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Intersegment balances
Liabilities
Funds received (disbursed)
Accumulated deficit
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
15.

Capital management policy
Management’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base to support the future development
of its business. There were no changes in management’s approach to capital management
during the financial year.

16.

Subsequent event
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative
impact on the operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of
the Fund will depend on future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and
spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial
markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the limited activity, management does
not believe that financial performance of the Fund would be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure
in the financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including July
7, 2020, the date of issuance of these financial statements.
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Skeete, Best & Co. Chartered Accountants
Tudor Bridge, St. Michael
Barbados, W.I.
Tel. (246) 537-6626
Fax. (246) 537-5348
Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com

Independent Auditors’ Report

Opini on

We have audited the financial statements of the Disaster Relief Revolving Fund, (the “Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2020, and the statements of
comprehensive loss, changes in fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fund as of March 31, 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small
and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs).

B asis for Opin ion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

R e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s o f M a n a g e m e n t a n d Th o s e C h a r g e d w i t h G o v e r n a n c e f o r t h e F i n a n c i a l
St at em ent s

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Disaster Relief
Fund
$

Retained
Earnings
$

Total
$

2,000,000

762,536

2,762,536

Balance at March 31, 2018
Intragovernmental write-offs (Note 7)

-

(432,324)

(432,324)

Net income for the year

-

40,352

40,352

370,564

2,370,564

Balance at March 31, 2019

2,000,000

Net loss for the year

-

Balance at March 31, 2020

2,000,000

(6,922)
363,642

(6,922)
2,363,642

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
$

Revenue
Interest on deposits
Interest on loans

Expenses
Bank charges
Provision for loan losses (Note 4)
Professional fees

Net (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income for the year

51,634
444

48,004
709

52,078

48,713

202
49,551
9,247

209
(2,230)
10,382

59,000

8,361

(6,922)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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2019
$

40,352

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) income for the year
Adjustment for:
Provision (reversal) for loan losses

2019
$

(6,922)

40,352

49,551

(2,230)

Operating income before working capital changes
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
Loans disbursed
Loans repaid

42,629
(29,127)
(318)
(51,059)
1,508

38,122
4,912
876
(10,738)
12,968

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

(36,367)

46,140

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

2,358,109

2,311,969

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

2,321,742

2,358,109

Represented by:
Cash
Term deposits

30,907
2,290,835

89,894
2,268,215

2,321,742

2,358,109

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
6
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was established in
Barbados by the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs in his Economic and Financial
Policies dated December 7, 2004. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund. These financial resources are managed solely by the
Agricultural Development Fund (ADF) and are used to provide agricultural producers, who
have been affected by a disaster, with access to a revolving loan facility that offers lenient
repayment terms, to assist in restoring their operations to their pre-disaster status.
The Fund’s operations commenced on April 01, 2005 when the first contribution was received.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board. They are prepared under the historical cost
convention.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue recognition
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the accrual basis
for all interest-bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income from
loans is not accrued if a loan becomes impaired. In subsequent periods, any interest received
on impaired loans is accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income includes interest earned
on term deposits.
Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in
exchange rates are included in the statement of income.
Taxation
The Fund is exempt from income tax under section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, CAP 73.

78

7

Annual Report 2020

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …c o n t i n u e d
Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses
Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost. These loans are
secured by promissory notes.
A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the loan. The recoverable
amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the
interest rate at inception of the loan.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance. Any subsequent
amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income.

3.

Cash and cash equivalents
This includes term deposits of $2,290,835 (2019 – $2,268,215) that were placed with financial
institutions for periods of six months. The deposits earn interest at rates of 2.25% per annum
(2019 – 2.0%) and matured on April 3, 2020.

Financial Institution

Date of Maturity

Interest rate

Principal
2020
$

April 3, 2020

2.25%

2,290,835

2,268,215

30,907

89,894

2,321,742

2,358,109

Capital Financial
Services Inc.
Cash

4.

Principal
2019
$

Loans receivable
Loans receivable are comprised as follows:
Interest rate
2020
%
Loans Receivable

3

Less: Provision for loan losses
Loans Receivable, net

Outstanding balances
2020
2019
$
$
320,584

271,033

(320,584)

(271,033)

-

-
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
4.

Loans receivable…c o n t i n u e d
Loans receivable are comprised as follows:
Interest rate
2020
%
Provision for Loan Losses
Balance at April 1
Increase (decrease) in provision

3

Balance at March 31, 2020
5.

Outstanding balances
2020
2019
$
$
271,033
49,551

273,263
(2,230)

320,584

271,033

Commitments
At the year end, the Fund had $10,381 (2019 – $11,441) commitments outstanding as
follows:

Dujon Edwards
Trevor Mayers
Grantley Small
Marsha Broomes-Jainaught

6.

2020
$

2019
$

797
1,381
8,203

797
1,381
9,263
-

10,381

11,441

Financial risk management
Fair value
The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value of each class of financial
instruments are as follows:
a)

Cash and cash equivalents, withholding tax refundable, due to related party and accounts
payable.
Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities their carrying values
approximate their fair values.

b)

Loans receivable
The rates of interest in the portfolio reflect market conditions and their carrying amounts,
net of provision for loan losses, approximate their fair values.

Interest rate risk
The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and the loan interest rates are fixed by the
Fund managers based on the prime rate. The Fund therefore can exert some measure of
control over its exposure to interest rate risk, and so the risk is not considered to be
significant.
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
6.

Financial risk management…c o n t i n u e d
Credit risk
The Fund had no significant credit risk at the end of the financial year.
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities.

7.

Intragovernmental debt write-offs
On January 31, 2019, the MOFEI instructed all State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and other
public bodies to ensure that all claims on other SOEs and other public sector bodies or any
amount owed to other public sector bodies prior to September 1, 2018 be written-off.
Transactions between these entities were deemed to be related party transactions as defined
in Section 33 of the IFRS for SMEs.
These write-offs were recognised as a contribution from the ultimate parent and therefore
taken to equity.
The following intra entity balances were written-off to equity:
2019
$
Agricultural Development Fund
Barbados Revenue Authority

386,480
45,844
432,324

8.

Subsequent events
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative
impact on the operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of
the Fund will depend on future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and
spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial
markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the limited activity, management
does not believe that financial performance of the Company would be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure
in the financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including June
24, 2020, the date of issuance of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Trustee of Energy Smart Fund

Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

We have audited the financial statements of Energy Smart Fund (“the Fund”),
To the comprise
Trustee ofthe
Energy
SmartofFund
which
statement
financial position as March 31, 2020, the
statements of income or loss, changes in fund balance and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects,
financial
the Fund as
March Smart
31, 2020,
and(“the
its financial
We have the
audited
the position
financialofstatements
of atEnergy
Fund
Fund”),
performance
and the
its cash
flows for
year then
ended
accordance
with the
which comprise
statement
of the
financial
position
as inMarch
31, 2020,
International
Standard
forbalance
Small and
Entities
statements ofFinancial
income orReporting
loss, changes
in fund
and Medium-sized
cash flows for the
year
(IFRS
for SMEs).
then ended,
and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
Basis
for the
Opinion
respects,
financial position of the Fund as at March 31, 2020, and its financial
performance
and
cashinflows
for the year
then ended in
accordance
with the
We conducted ouritsaudit
accordance
with International
Standards
on Auditing
International
Financial Reporting
for Smallare
andfurther
Medium-sized
(ISAs).
Our responsibilities
underStandard
those standards
describedEntities
in the
(IFRS
for Responsibilities
SMEs).
Auditors’
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados,
and
wefor
have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
Basis
Opinion
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
We conducted
audit inaaccordance
International Standards on Auditing
and
appropriateour
to provide
basis for ourwith
opinion.
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KPMG, a Barbados and Eastern Caribbean partnership, registered in Barbados, Antigua and Barbuda, Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines,
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a
Swiss entity.
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Independent Auditors’ Report, continued
To the Trustee of Energy Smart Fund
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting
process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of the auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados’ website at:
http://www.icab.bb/about-icab/auditing/. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report, continued
To the Trustee of Energy Smart Fund
Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Trustee, in accordance with Section 4.2 of the Trust
Agreement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trustee those
matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Fund and the Fund’s Trustee, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we
have formed.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
July 23, 2020
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2020
With comparative figures as at March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

WQ

WJ!

1,212,688
6,305,866
8,228,207
1,648,391
154,368

4,881,781

$

17,549.520

15 386 071

$

38,511
83,859

40,200
71,108
21 787

122,370

133,095

Notes

Assets

Cash
Short-term investments
Loans receivable
Prepaid short-term benefits
Interest receivable
Other receivable

$

3
4

Total Assets

8,434,045
2,036,015
34,230

Liabilities and Fund

Liabilities

Accounts payable
Due to related party
Deferred income

5

Total Liabilities
Fund
Contribution
Accumulated deficit
Total Fund
Total Liabilities and Fund

$

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Trustee - Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

..J�i........................
.............

� ........................

Director
Director
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17,811,043
(383,893)

15,311,043
(58,067)

17,427,150

15,252,976

17,5 49,520

15.386.071

ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Income or Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Note

Revenue
Interest income
Less: management fees

2020
491,410
(234,312)

381,590
(239,130)

257,098

142,460

Other income

21,787

-

Total revenue

278,885

142,460

Expenses
Bank charges
Short-term benefits expense
Provision for loan losses
Professional fees

374
280,887
285,350
38,100

2,396
281,902
41,125

Total expenses

604,711

325,423

(325,826)

(182,963)

5

$

2019

Net interest income

Net loss

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes

Balance at March 31, 2018

$

Loss for the year
Balance at March 31, 2019

$

Funds received from Government

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Accumulated
Surplus

Total

15,311,043

124,896

15,435,939

-

(182,963)

15,311,043

(58,067)

2,500,000

Loss for the year
Balance at March 31, 2020

Contribution

-

-

(325,826)

17,811,043

(383,893)

(182,963)
15,252,976
2,500,000
(325,826)
17,427,150

ENERGY SMART FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
2020

Operating Activities
Net loss
Interest income
Interest received
Provision for loan losses

$

Operating loss before working capital changes
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
(Increase) decrease in loans receivable
Decrease in prepaid short-term benefits
Increase in due to related party
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Funds received from Government
Net cash from financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash
Cash – beginning of year
Cash – end of year

$

2019

(347,613)
(491,410)
371,272
285,350

(182,963)
(381,590)
397,395
-

(182,401)

(167,158)

(1,689)
(79,512)
387,624
12,751

1,337
1,168,599
116,422
281

136,773

1,119,481

(6,305,866)

-

(6,305,866)

-

2,500,000

-

2,500,000

-

(3,669,093)

1,119,481

4,881,781

3,762,300

1,212,688

4,881,781

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1.

Incorporation and Principal Activities

The Energy Smart Fund (“ESF” or “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on November 29, 2012. The
Government of Barbados pledged a cumulative capital injection of BDS$ 20 million to establish this multitiered facility. These contributions will be used to provide financing to assist with the execution of viable
energy efficiency (EE) and renewable energy (RE) projects amongst Barbadian businesses and
households. The sum of BDS $20.5 million (2019 – $18.0 million) has been received to date.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (“Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is “Westgate”, Monteith
Gardens, Barbarees Hill, St. Michael.
The financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Trustee on July 23, 2020.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
(b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
classified as available-for-sale investments.
(b) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
(c) Cash
Cash comprises cash at bank.

9
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)
(d) Loans receivable
This amount comprises low-interest loans issued at rates which are below the prevailing market rates of
interest. Once fully disbursed, the amounts receivable are determined by the present value of all future
cash receipts discounted using the prevailing market rate(s) of interest for a similar instrument (similar as
to currency, term, type of interest rate and other factors) with a similar credit rating.
(e) Revenue recognition
Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits represents interest earned on contractual agreements with financial
institutions at agreed rates of interest.
Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements. Provisions
for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to support the fact that
the loan is impaired.
(f) Contributions
Contributions from the Government of Barbados are recorded in the Statement of Changes in Fund.
Technical Assistance grant disbursements are recognised as a decrease in the Fund balance.
(g) Investments
Investments comprising term deposits are categorised as held to maturity and are carried at cost.
(h) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Income or Loss.

10
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)
(i) Deferred income
This represents deposits received from clients prior to disbursement of grant funding. They are treated as
such until the client is approved for funding under the Energy Efficiency (EE) Retrofit and Renewable
Energy (RE) Finance Facility.
(j) Related parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related parties are based
on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.
3. Loans receivable
The maximum loan size allowed is $1,500,000 with a loan interest rate of 3.75% per annum being applied
to the reducing balance of the loan. The resources of this facility are not to be used to refinance existing
debt. All loans shall be repaid within ten (10) years or less.
Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s) where the
market realisation value of the underlying security is adequate to liquidate all prior charges and the Fund’s
exposure.
The maturity structure of loans receivable is:

2019

Over 5 years

$

8,513,557

8,434,045

Total loans receivable

$

8,513,557

8,434,045

Less loan loss provision
Balance at start of year
Impairment (loss) recovery

$

Balance at end of year
Total loans receivable, net

$

11
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(285,350)

-

(285,350)

-

8,228,207

8,434,045

ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
4. Prepaid short-term benefits
This amount represents benefits derived from issuing loans to clients at rates below current market rates.
These benefits are amortised over the life over the loan.
5. Due to related party
The amount due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the
financial year in accordance with the provisions of agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.
These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
are unsecured, interest fee and have no fixed terms of repayment.
6. Grants/Rebates
The Trustees administer the following grants/rebates under the Fund. These are illustrated as follows:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Technical Assistance Grants
Pilot Consumer Finance Facility
Energy Efficiency Lighting Distribution Facility
Air Conditioner Rebate Trade-In Facility

Technical Assistance Grants (T/A)
This comprises amounts disbursed to eligible businesses to support the preparation of Energy Efficiency
(EE) audits and Renewable Energy (RE) studies. These audits and studies will test the economic,
environmental, technical and financial viability of each project prior to final implementation. The maximum
allowed is $40,000.
Pilot Consumer Finance Facility (PCF)
The PCF Facility provides rebates on either interest rates or retail price to one or more selected Barbadian
retailers that sell (or intend to sell) EE and RE equipment at a retail level and have some experience in
hire-purchase. The maximum size of a grant to any selected retailer is $500,000.
Energy Efficiency Lighting Distribution Facility
This facility provides grant funding for selected retailers to purchase EE Lights, and distribute them to their
customers based on a voucher system. The maximum size of a grant to any selected retailer is $1,000,000.
Air Conditioner (A/C) Rebate Trade-In Facility
This facility provides grant funding for giving 50 percent rebates to businesses and households on new
energy efficient and ozone depleting substance (ODS)-free Air Conditioners (provided an old unit is
disposed for each new unit supported), working through selected retailers. The maximum size of a grant
to any selected retailer is $1.5 million.

12
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
7. Commitments
Outstanding commitments totalling $7,210,329 (March 31, 2019 - $2,807,172) were reported at the end of
the year. These are illustrated as follows:
2019

Loans
Grants/Rebates

$

7,195,961
14,368

2,792,804
14,368

Total

$

7,210,329

2,807,172

Client Name

Facility Type

Airline Services Inc.
Airline Services Inc.
Airline Services Inc.
Armag Manufacturing Ltd.
Baywatch Resorts Ltd,
Bess Mining Inc
Bico Ltd.
Bico Ltd.
Broome Holdings Inc.
Caribbean Homes Ltd.
Chickmont Foods Ltd.
Chickmont Foods Ltd.
Coconut Court Ltd.
Enermax Limited
Fencit Company Inc.
Hinds Transport Serv. Ltd.
HIPAC Ltd.
In The Cloud Ltd.
Island Holdings Inc.
John Brewster
Krysnatash Investments Ltd.
Mahabir’s Agencies
Monterey Farms Ltd
New Dawn Inc.
Preconco Ltd.
Rewards Investments Inc
Simmons Electrical Co. Ltd
Star Chick Ltd.
Sungroup Investment Limited
Transmed Inc.
Trevor Haynes
Unicomer (Barbados) Ltd.

Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan

Approved
$

755,735
600,000
270,000
443,461
192,500
1,050,000
1,500,000
1,144,477
1,468,362
490,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
780,000
700,000
400,000
300,000
1,500,000
450,000
440,000
370,000
70,000
76,000
1,350,000
180,000
942,382
1,450,000
161,400
1,400,000
130,000
425,000
132,983
654,412
13
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Disbursed

Undisbursed

755,735
443,461
20,642
1,500,000
1,144,477
1,468,362
490,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
780,000
668,715
357,744
300,000
1,500,000
440,000
70,000
3,724
952,839
180,000
942,382
161,400
1,400,000
130,000
385,344
132,983
654,412

600,000
270,000
192,500
1,029,358
31,285
42,256
450,000
370,000
72,276
397,161
1,450,000
39,656
-

ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
7. Commitments, (continued)
Client Name

Facility Type

Approved

Disbursed

Undisbursed

330,000
875,000
1,090,000

24,150
19,381

330,000
850,850
1,070,619

25,121,712

17,925,751

7,195,961

23,500
11,600
2,862
25,850
2,000

23,500
11,600
2,862
25,850
-

2,000

T/A Grant
40,000
T/A Grant
18,000
EELD Rebate 1,245,101
T/A Grant
8,500
T/A Grant
18,000
T/A Grant
21,150
T/A Grant
16,500
T/A Grant
8,000
T/A Grant
7,050
T/A Grant
32,900
T/A Grant
9,000
T/A Grant
6,500
T/A Grant
1,500
T/A Grant
4,700
T/A Grant
37,013
PCF Rebate
500,000
T/A Grant
21,150
T/A Grant
2,000
T/A Grant
24,675
T/A Grant
21,150
T/A Grant
16,450
T/A Grant
12,338
T/A Grant
40,000
T/A Grant
7,638
T/A Grant
6,500
T/A Grant
2,700
TPCF Rebate
500,000
T/A Grant
9,000

40,000
18,000
1,245,101
8,500
18,000
21,150
16,450
2,400
7,050
32,900
9,000
6,500
1,500
4,700
37,013
499,782
21,150
2,000
24,675
21,150
16,450
12,338
40,000
7,638
2,700
500,000
9,000

50
5,600
218
6,500
-

2,703,327

2,688,959

14,368

27,825,039

20,614,710

7,210,329

VH Investments Inc.
Loan
Visare Ltd
Loan
West Indies Rum Distillery Ltd Loan
Sub-total

Loans

Abundant Life Assembly Inc.
Airline Services Inc.
Animal Flower Cave Tours
Armag Manufacturing Ltd.
Atlantic Computers Ltd.
B’dos Investment &
Development Corporation
Bico Ltd.
Caribbean LED Lighting Inc.
Carters & Co. Ltd
Chickmont Foods Ltd
Cobblers Cove
Coconut Court Ltd.
Corbin’s Catering Services
Cricket Legends of B’dos Inc.
Fiberpol
Harris Holdings Ltd.
Island Holdings Inc.
Jump & Wave Inc.
Krysnatash Investments Ltd.
Lenstec (B’dos) Inc.
Massy Stores
Morgan Lewis Co. Ltd
Ocean Fisheries Ltd.
Queen’s Laundry Ltd.
RDT Holdings Inc.
Shorelinez Inc.
Sugar Hill Property Owners
The Codrington Trust
The Nature Group Inc.
Transmed Inc.
Trevor Haynes
Unicomer (Barbados) Ltd.
West Haven Ltd.

T/A Grant
T/A Grant
T/A Grant
T/A Grant
T/A Grant

$

Subtotal Grants/Rebates
TOTAL

$
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
8. Corporation tax
The Fund is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated pool of funds and therefore under the Income
Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-incorporated entity. The Income Tax Act Cap 73 was
amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the
development of sectors of the economy.

9. Financial Risk Management
Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•

credit risk

•

liquidity risk

•

market risk

•

operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Trustee of the Fund has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s risk
management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the adherence to
limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products
and services offered.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Fund’s investments.
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each borrower.
A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are assessed according to their credit
risk profile. These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their existing
liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the extent of credit
risk.

15
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
9. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Management of credit risk
The Fund employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans receivable, by
the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The principal collateral
types for loans are:

•
•
•
•

Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
Charges over business assets/bill of sale
Personal guarantees
Hypothecation of deposit balances

Financial investments
The Fund limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in reputable financial institutions and
Government of Barbados securities. Government securities are generally invested over a period longer
than that of term deposits with other financial institutions. The Fund has documented investment policies
in place which act as a guide to the management of credit risk on investments.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying Amount
2020

2019

Cash
Loans receivable
Short-term investments

$

1,212,688
8,228,207
6,305,866

4,881,781
8,434,045
-

Total

$

15,746,761

13,315,826

Credit quality by class of financial assets
Loans Receivable
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed through the prudent underwriting principles
established by management.

16
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
9. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Cash and balances with financial institutions
The credit quality of financial institutions holding the Fund’s cash resources is assessed by the level of
credit worthiness and by comparison to other financial institutions. The Fund only places its cash resources
with reputable financial institutions.
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans
All loans receivable are past due for a period of no more than 30 days as at the reporting date
(2019 – 30 days).
Impairment Assessment
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is probable
that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the
loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
These comprise loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but
management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral
available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are located
in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe that the
concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
9. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by
using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending and
other expenditure.
Analysis of financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Fund, based on their earliest possible contractual maturity, are due within 30
days (2019 – 30 days).
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return on investment.
Management of Market Risk
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimize
instances of market risk in accordance with the Fund’s Short-Term Investment Policy. Further
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of resources in financial institutions.
Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk is the potential risk of loss from fluctuating foreign exchange rates when an investor has
exposure to foreign currency or in foreign-currency-traded investments. The Fund had no significant
exposure to currency risk at the end of the financial year.
Exposure to interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from the fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. It arises when there is a mismatch between the
interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustments, within
a specified period.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
9. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
An interest rate sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the impact on total loss of reasonable
possible changes in interest rates prevailing at March 31, 2020, with all other variables held constant. The
impact is illustrated and shown in the table below:
Increase (decrease) of 100 bps
2020
Impact on net income +100 bps
Impact on net income – 100 bps

$

100,658
(100,658)

2019
101,757
(101,757)

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and are faced
by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage
to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative
and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk
is delegated to the trustees of the Fund. Key policies and procedures used in managing operating risk
involve segregation of duties, delegation of authority and financial and managerial reporting. Mitigation of
operating risk is supported by a well-defined organisational structure that segregates operational and
administrative functions. Additionally, quarterly reviews are undertaken by the Trustees of the Fund.
Financial income

Interest income on loans

$

2020

2019

491,410

381,590

Capital Management Policy
Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business.
There were no changes in management’s approach to capital management during the year. The Fund is
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

10. Fair values of financial instruments
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The fair
values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of
Financial Position are as follows:

Cash
Loans receivable
Investments
Interest receivable
Accounts payable
Due to related party

2020
Carrying Value

2020
Fair Value

$

1,212,688
8,228,207
6,305,866
154,368
(38,511)
(83,859)

1,212,688
8,228,207
6,305,866
154,368
(38,511)
(83,859)

2019
Carrying Value
$

4,881,781
8,434,045
34,230
(40,200)
(71,108)

2019
Fair Value
4,881,781
8,434,045
34,230
(40,200)
(71,108)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted market prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based in quoted market prices at the
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Fund is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in Level 1.
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ENERGY SMART FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

10. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments, (continued)
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use if
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in Level 3.
11. Subsequent events
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak
that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative impact on the operations
of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of the Fund will depend on future
developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions
and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the limited activity,
management does not believe that financial performance of the Company would be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including the reporting date.
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To the Trustees of Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
Opinion
To
the Trustees of Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund
We have audited the financial statements of Industrial, Investment and
Report on the
Audit
of Fund”),
the Financial
Statements
Employment
Fund
(“the
which comprise
the statement of financial position
as at March 31, 2020, the statements of profit or loss, changes in general fund
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant
accounting
Opinion policies and other explanatory information.
In
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audited
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Employment
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statement
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International
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Small
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Entities
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year then
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notes,
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accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at March 31, 2020, and its financial
Basis for Opinion
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the
International
Financial
Reporting
Standard
Small and Standards
Medium-sized
Entities
We conducted
our audit
in accordance
withfor
International
on Auditing
(IFRS
SMEs).
(ISAs).for
Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical
requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados,
Basis for Opinion
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
We conductedWe
our believe
audit inthat
accordance
International
Auditing
requirements.
the audit with
evidence
we haveStandards
obtained on
is sufficient
(ISAs).
Our responsibilities
those
and
appropriate
to provide a under
basis for
our standards
opinion. are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, Continued
To the Trustees of Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of the auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados’ website at:
http://www.icab.bb/about-icab/auditing/.This description forms part of our auditors’
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, Continued
To the Trustees of Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund
Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Fund’s trustees, in accordance with Trustees Act
Chapter 250 of the Laws of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Fund’s trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s
trustees, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
August 6, 2020
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes

Revenue
Interest income

$

Expenses
Management fees
Provision for loan losses
Professional fees
Bank charges

6

Net (loss) profit

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

362,784

348,597

306,874
37,708
24,320
216

309,778
29,494
254

369,118

339,526

(6,334)

9,071

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Changes in General Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes

Balances at March 31, 2018
Write-off of withholding tax
Loss on derecognition of investments

Contribution

$

(7,027,662)

10

-

(128,838)

(128,838)

5

-

(247,289)

(247,289)

-

Balances at March 31, 2019

15,000,000

Net loss

$

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Total

15,000,000

Net profit

Balances at March 31,2020

Accumulated
Deficit

15,000,000

9,071
(7,394,718)
(6,334)
(7,401,052)

7,972,338

9,071
7,605,282
(6,334)
7,598,948

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

March 31
2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) profit
Adjustments for:
Provision for loan losses
Interest income
Interest received

$

(6,334)
37,708
(362,784)
348,084

Operating profit before working capital changes

16,674

Decrease (increase) in loans receivable
Increase (decrease) in due to related party
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable

64,966
46,288
(2,262)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities

March 31
2019

125,664

9,071
(348,597)
340,338
812
(1,091,511)
(47,830)
2,585
(1,135,944)

Cash flows from investing activities
(Purchase) proceeds from disposal of short-term investments

(27,296)

588,903

Net cash (used in) from investing activities

(27,296)

588,903

98,368

(547,041)

Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

$

497,689

1,044,730

596,057

497,689

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1.

Incorporation and Principal Activities
The Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (“IIEF” or the “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on
August 9, 2002 and was funded with an initial transfer from the Government of Barbados of $15 million.
These contributions are used to provide financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the
productive capacity of the manufacturing sector in order to improve the level of competitiveness and
financial viability. A further contribution of $10 million was budgeted, however, this has not been realised
as a result of the poor performance of the Fund.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is Enterprise Growth
Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The Investment Committee and
the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and ratification of loans issued
by the Fund.
The financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Trustees on August 6, 2020.

2. Basis of Preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
(b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis except for financial instruments which are
prepared at amortised cost.
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Basis of Preparation, (continued)
(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which
the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
(i)

Provision for loan losses
The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Fund uses its
judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future payments by
customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of security.

(ii)

Fair market value of investments
Fair value of a financial asset or liability is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal, or in its
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at the measurement date.
The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
The Fund values instruments carried at fair value using quoted market prices, where available.
Quoted market prices represent a Level 1 valuation. When quoted market prices are not available,
the Fund maximizes the use of observable inputs within valuation models. When all significant inputs
are observable, the valuation is classified as Level 2. Valuations that require the significant use of
unobservable inputs are considered Level 3.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.
(a) Revenue recognition
Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on
contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest.
Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements. Provisions
for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to support the fact that
the loan is impaired.
(b) Short term Investments
Short term investments comprising term deposits and treasury bills are categorised as held to maturity and
are carried at cost or amortized cost.
(c) Provision for loan losses
Specific provisions are made on an individual loan, where management is of the opinion that full collection
is doubtful.
(d) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Profit or Loss.

11

118

Annual Report 2020

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)
(e) Related parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related parties are
based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.
4. Cash
Cash comprises cash at bank:

Cash

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

596,057

497,689

Cash consists of amounts held in a current account which does not earn interest.
5. Investments

Commercial deposits/treasury bills

$

Government-issue Series “B” Bonds
Less: Loss on derecognition of investment
Net balance
Balances, end of year

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

1,119,145

1,091,849

1,000,378
(247,289)

1,000,378
(247,289)

753,089

753,089

1,872,234

1,844,938

Included in investments is an amount of $1,119,145 (March 31, 2019: $1,091,849) representing
commercial deposits/treasury bills with maturity periods greater than 90 days. At the reporting date the
effective interest rates range were 2.5% per annum (March 31, 2019: 2.5% per annum).
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
5. Investments, (continued)
On October 1, 2018, the Company accepted an offer from the Government of Barbados to exchange
previously held treasury bills for an equal principal amount of Series “B” bonds. All interest accrued but
unpaid through September 30, 2018 were added to the principal amount of the Series “B” bonds received.
At the reporting date the carrying value of these bonds was $1,000,378 representing the face value of the
Series B bonds received in exchange for treasury bills previously held. Since there has been a substantial
modification to the terms of the securities, the treasury bills were derecognized and the new Series B
bonds recorded at their fair value which was estimated at $753,089. The loss of $247,289 was taken
directly to retained earnings as it was considered to be a transaction with the Government of Barbados in
its capacity as a shareholder of the Fund. The bonds are divided into strips which have terms ranging
from five years to fifteen years, and bear interest at 3% per annum for the first three years, 2.5% in year
4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.
6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable - Net

Loans
Bonds
Revolving lines of credit

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

$

6,785,793
200,000
1,249,869

6,850,759
200,000
1,249,869

Less Provision:
Balance, beginning of year
Increase in provision for loan losses

$

8,235,662

8,300,628

$

3,010,977
37,708

3,010,977
-

Balance, end of year

$

3,048,685

3,010,977

Balance, end of year

$

5,186,977

5,289,651

At March 31, 2020 the maturity profile of loans is as follows:
Up to
1 yr
Business Sector

$

2,829,038

Years to maturity
One to
Over
5 yrs
5 Yrs
103,563

5,303,061

Less allowance for loan losses
$

120
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Total
2020

Total
2019

8,235,662

8,300,628

(3,048,685)

(3,010,977)

5,186,977

5,289,651

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable – Net, (continued)
The interest rate applicable to the loans and lines of credit receivable ranged from 5.5% - 6.5% at the end
of 2020 (March 31, 2019: 5.5% - 6.5%). The annual interest rate applicable to all bonds was 10% for 2020
(March 31, 2019: 10%).
The maximum loan allowed is the greater of $2,000,000 and 8% of the total capitalisation balance of the
Fund. Loans with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be granted a grace period limited to one
(1) year (the period during which only interest payments are due and payable). For loans with repayment
periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the grace period will be two (2)
years. Loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years, the grace period will be for three (3)
years. The grace period is limited to the length of the contract for construction or installation. Loans
receivable include revolving lines of credit which are due on demand.
Security is by way of first or second legal mortgages on property(ies) owned by the borrower(s).
When a loan/bond is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries
are credited to the provision for loan losses in the Statement of Profit or Loss. As at the reporting date,
interest not recognised in respect of delinquent loans amounted to $1,870,996 (March 31, 2019:
$1,628,853).
7. Due to Related Party

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

75,739

29,451

Due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial year
in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund using contractual rates.
These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and have
no fixed terms of repayment.
8. Commitments
At the reporting date, loans approved which have not been disbursed totalled $224,647 (March 31, 2019:
$24,647).
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
9. Corporation Tax
Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from
payment of tax in accordance with Income Tax Act Cap 73 which exempts entities whose funds have been
provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy.
10. Intragovernmental debt write-offs
On January 31, 2019, the Ministry of Finance instructed all State-Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and other
public bodies to ensure that all claims on other SOEs and other public bodies or any amounts owed to
other public sector bodies prior to September 1, 2018 be written off.
The write off of withholding tax has been taken directly to the accumulated deficit as it is considered to be
a transaction with the Government of Barbados in its capacity as a shareholder of the fund.
11. Financial Risk Management
Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•

credit risk

•

liquidity risk

•

market risk

•

operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s risk
management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the adherence to
limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products
and services offered.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loans, interest receivable and its
investments.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
11. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each borrower.
A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized according to their
credit risk profile. These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their existing
liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the extent of credit
risk.
Management of credit risk
The Fund employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans receivable, by
the taking of security whose value approximates the quantum of funds advanced. The principal collateral
types for loans are:
•
•
•
•

Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
Charges over business assets/bill of sale
Personal guarantees
Hypothecation of deposit balances

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying Amount
March 31
2020

March 31
2019

Loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable - net
Cash
Short term investments

$

5,186,977
596,057
1,872,234

5,289,651
497,689
1,844,938

Total

$

7,655,268

7,632,278
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
11. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Credit quality by class of financial assets
Loans Receivable
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed though the prudent underwriting principles
established by management.
Cash and balances with financial institutions
The credit quality of financial institutions holding the Fund’s cash resources is assessed by the level of
credit worthiness and by comparison to other financial institutions. The Fund only places its cash resources
with reputable financial institutions.
The tables below show the credit quality analysis of financial assets:

March 31, 2020
Neither Past due
Nor impaired
Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

$

$

Past due but
not impaired

Individually
Impaired

Total

596,057

-

-

596,057

1,872,234
3,303,067

1,999,993

2,932,602

1,872,234
8,235,662

5,771,358

1,999,993

2,932,602

10,703,953

March 31, 2019
Neither Past due
Nor impaired
Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

$

$

124

Past due but
not impaired

Total

497,689

-

-

497,689

1,844,938
3,573,703

1,807,791

2,869,133

1,844,938
8,250,627

5,916,330

1,807,791

2,869,133

10,593,254
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

11. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Impairment Assessment
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is probable
that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the
loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or
the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are located
in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe that the
concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by
using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending and
other expenditure.
Analysis of financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Fund, based on their earliest possible contractual maturity, are due within
30 days (March 31, 2019 – 30 days).
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

11. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return on the investment.
Management of Market Risks
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimise
instances of market risk in accordance with the Fund’s Short-Term Investment Policy. Further
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of company resources in financial
institutions.
Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk is the potential risk of loss from fluctuating foreign exchange rates when an investor has
exposure to foreign currency or in foreign-currency-traded investments. The Fund had no significant
exposure to currency risk at the end of the financial year.
Exposure to interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from the fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. It arises when there is a mismatch between the
interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustments, within
a specified period.
An interest rate sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the impact on total loss of reasonable
possible changes in interest rates prevailing at March 31, 2020, with all other variables held constant. The
impact is illustrated and shown in the table below:
March 31
2020

Increase/(decrease) of 100 bps
Impact on comprehensive income +100 bps
Impact on comprehensive income – 100 bps

126

$

19

Annual Report 2020

59,482
(59,482)

March 31
2019
51,836
(51,836)

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

11. Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and are faced
by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage
to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative
and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address
operational risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.
Financial income
March 31
2020

March 31
2019

Interest income on loans, bonds and lines of credit
Interest income on short term investments

$

327,154
35,630

285,096
63,501

Financial income

$

362,784

348,597

12. Fair Value Disclosures of Financial Instruments
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The fair
values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their carrying values.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

12. Fair Value Disclosures of Financial Instruments, (continued)
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of
Financial Position are as follows:
2020
Carrying Value
Cash
$
Short term investments
Loans, bonds, LOC receivable- net
Interest receivable
Accounts payable
Due to related party

596,057
1,872,234
5,186,977
44,380
(24,961)
(75,739)

2020
Fair Value
596,057
1,872,234
5,186,977
44,380
(24,961)
(75,739)

2019
Carrying Value
497,689
1,844,938
5,289,651
29,680
(27,225)
(29,451)

2019
Fair Value
497,689
1,844,938
5,289,651
29,680
(27,225)
(29,451)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Fund is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in Level 1.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in Level 3.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements, (continued)
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
13. Capital Management Policy
Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in management’s approach
to capital management during the period.
14. Subsequent events
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak
that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative impact on the operations
of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of the Fund will depend on future
developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions
and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the limited activity,
management does not believe that financial performance of the Company would be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including the reporting date.
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Skeete, Best & Co. Chartered Accountants
Tudor Bridge, St. Michael
Barbados, W.I.
Tel. (246) 537-6626
Fax. (246) 537-5348
Email: damienskeete@skeetebest.com

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Trustees of
The Innovation Fund

Our opin ion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Innovation Fund (“the Fund”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of March 31, 2020, and the statements of
comprehensive loss, changes in fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fund as of March 31, 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and
Medium-sized entities (IFRS for SMEs).

B asis for Opin ion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

R e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s o f M a n a g e m e n t a n d Th o s e C h a r g e d w i t h G o v e r n a n c e f o r t h e F i n a n c i a l
St at em ent s

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS for SMEs and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Contribution
$
Balance at March 31, 2018

4,515,103

Accumulated
Deficit
$
(3,976,465)

Total
$
538,638

Intragovernmental write-offs (Note 8)

-

(13,651)

(13,651)

Net loss for the year

-

(96,336)

(96,336)

Balance at March 31, 2019

4,515,103

Government funds received

1,000,000

Net loss for the year

-

Balance at March 31, 2020

5,515,103

(4,086,452)
(108,429)
(4,194,881)

428,651
1,000,000
(108,429)
1,320,222

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
$
Revenue
Interest income
Expenses
Bank charges
Management fees
Professional fees

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

24,707

4,216

182
125,254
7,700

194
93,158
7,200

133,136

100,552

(108,429)

(96,336)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2020
$

2019
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year

(108,429)

(96,336)

Operating loss before working capital adjustments:
Decrease in witholding tax recoverable
Increase in interest receivable
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accruals
Increase (decrease) in due to related party

(108,429)
(19,415)
(57)
32,586

(96,336)
13,651
(249)
676
(17,095)

(95,315)

(99,353)

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Settlement of intragovernmental debts (Note 9)
Funds received from government

1,000,000

(13,651)
-

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

1,000,000

(13,651)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash - beginning of period
Cash - end of period (Note 3)

(596,033)

(403,967)

308,652

(516,971)

39,679

556,650

348,331

39,679

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

8

Annual Report 2020

139

The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Innovation Fund (“the Fund”) was established for the purpose of providing funding and
technical assistance to small and emerging innovative enterprises to properly develop a concept
or product and to develop the business to the stage where it can obtain the additional financing
needed to commercialize the concept or product fully. It was funded by Bds$5,000,000
transferred by the Crown to Trustees under a Deed of Trust, dated October 2002. The Fund
commenced operations on January 15, 2003.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities (“IFRS for SMEs”) promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board. They are prepared under the historical cost convention.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS for SMEs requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue recognition
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive loss on the accrual basis for
all interest bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes
interest earned on time deposits.
Taxation
The Fund is exempt from income tax under Section 9 (1) (f) of the Income Tax Act, Cap.73.
Term deposits with bank
These are call and fixed deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
Equity investments
Equity investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value consideration given, and
include acquisition charges associated with the investments. These are privately held unquoted
equity investments. They are carried at cost based on available information and do not
necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, since such amounts depend
on future circumstances. Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the assigned
values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used, had more current
information been available, and the difference could be material.
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …c o n t i n u e d
Equity investments...c o n t i n u e d
Management performs a review of its investment portfolio annually to determine whether there
are any indicators of impairment. Impairment review focuses on issues, financial condition and
their future prospects. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a
deduction of the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the statement of
comprehensive loss as “provision for impairment of investments”.

3.

Cash

Cash at bank – RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Limited
4.

2020
$

2019
$

348,331

39,679

Investments
The Fund has invested in redeemable, Class A preferred shares in the following companies and
these have been fully provided for in the financials:
At year end, the Fund has approved investments totalling $3,859,631. Approximately
$2,283,211 of this total has been disbursed to date. The investment balances are listed as
follows:

Abus Technology Inc.
Advanced Energy Systems
Ajeland Investments Inc.
Birds Eye Music Inc.
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.
Fifth Element Designs Inc.
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc.
Country Style Woodwork Inc.
Country Style Woodwork Inc.
Gold Coast Records Inc.
Hit For Six Inc.
Hit Island Inc.
Melange Productions Inc.
Smart Tie Inc.

CAPITA commercial deposit

2020
$

2019
$

200,000
82,449
249,600
250,000
241,720
20,000
2,782
250,000
56,017
250,000
250,000
91,628
210,000
31,000

200,000
82,449
249,600
250,000
241,720
20,000
2,782
250,000
56,017
250,000
250,000
91,628
210,000
31,000

2,185,196

2,185,196

1,000,000

403,967

3,185,196

2,589,163
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
4.

Investments … c o n t i n u e d
Less: provision for impairment of investments:
2020
$
Abus Technology Inc.
Advanced Energy Systems
Ajeland Investments Inc.
Birds Eye Music Inc.
Coral Isle Food Products Ltd.
Fifth Element Designs
Harewood’s Tropical Foods Inc.
Country Style Woodwork Inc
Gold Coast Records Inc
Hit For Six Inc.
Hit Island Inc.
Melange Productions Inc.
Smart Tie Inc

5.

2019
$

(200,000)
(82,449)
(249,600)
(250,000)
(241,720)
(20,000)
(2,782)
(306,017)
(250,000)
(250,000)
(91,628)
(210,000)
(31,000)

(200,000)
(82,449)
(249,600)
(250,000)
(241,720)
(20,000)
(2,782)
(306,017)
(250,000)
(250,000)
(91,628)
(210,000)
(31,000)

(2,185,196)

(2,185,196)

1,000,000

403,967

Due to related party
At March 31, 2020, there was an amount of $38,398 (2019 – $5,812) due to the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited. This balance is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.
Related party transactions
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the average gross
assets of the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.75% per quarter.
Charges of $125,254 (2019 - $93,158) were incurred during the year in respect of management
fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.

6.

Special grants
The Fund administers and finances The National Innovation Competition to develop creative
thinking to produce viable innovative projects that have the best chance of realizing commercial
success. From the 2008 income year, the Board of Trustees resolved to treat the expenses for
this competition as grants. Such grants when disbursed are recognised in the accounts as a
reduction in the equity of the Fund.
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
7.

Financial risk management
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would be agreed upon
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best
evidenced by a quoted market value, if one exists. The methods and assumptions used to
estimate fair value of each class of financial instruments are as follows:
a)

Cash, interest receivable, accounts payable and due to related party
Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities, their carrying
values approximate their fair values.

b)

Equity Investments
These are carried at cost since their fair values cannot be reasonably determined.

Interest rate risk
The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and so this risk is not considered to be
significant.
Credit risk
The amount of the Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its
financial assets. These include cash, term deposits and interest receivable from these deposits,
all of which are placed with a reputable bank and financial institution. There were no deposits
held at March 31, 2019.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its
financial liabilities.
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.
Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited,
a related party.
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2020
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
8.

Intragovernmental write-offs
On January 31, 2019, the MOFEI instructed all State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and other
public bodies to ensure that all claims on other SOEs and other public sector bodies or any
amount owed to other public sector bodies prior to September 1, 2018 be written-off.
Transactions between these entities are deemed to be related party transactions as defined in
Section 33 of the IFRS for SMEs.
These write-offs will be recognised as a contribution from the ultimate parent and therefore
taken to equity.
The following intra entity balances were written-off to equity:
2019
$
Due from Barbados Revenue Authority

9.

13,651

Subsequent event
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative
impact on the operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of
the Fund will depend on future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and
spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial
markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the limited activity, management does
not believe that financial performance of the Company would be materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure
in the financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including June
24, 2020, the date of issuance of these financial statements.
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Report
on the AuditAUDITORS'
of the Financial
Statements
INDEPENDENT
REPORT
To the Trustees of Tourism Loan Fund
Opinion
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, the statements of
profit or loss, changes in general fund and cash flows for the year then ended, and
Opinion
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
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In
our for
opinion,
the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at March 31, 2020, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the
International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities
Basis
for Opinion
(IFRS for SMEs).
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
Basis
report. for
WeOpinion
are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements
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the audit evidence
have
is sufficient
and appropriate
to
Auditors’that
Responsibilities
for thewe
Audit
of obtained
the Financial
Statements
section of our
provide
a
basis
for
our
opinion.
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Barbados, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued
To the Trustees of Tourism Loan Fund
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.
A further description of the auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
is located at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados’ website at:
http://www.icab.bb/about-icab/auditing/.This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, Continued
To the Trustees of Tourism Loan Fund
Other Matter
This report is made solely to the Fund’s trustees, in accordance with Trustees Act Chapter
250 of the Laws of Barbados. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Fund’s trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s trustees, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed., or for the opinion we have form

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
July 21, 2020
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Notes
Income
Interest on investments
Interest on loans

$

Total income
Expenses
Management fees
Provision for loan losses
Professional fees
Trustees fees
Bank charges

9

Total expenses
Net profit

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

121,749
1,394,893

179,636
1,333,892

1,516,642

1,513,528

982,614
206,781
26,670
1,500
215

966,430
27,600
1,500
308

1,217,780

995,838

298,862

517,690

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Statement of Changes in General Fund
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Notes
Balances at March 31, 2018
Loss on derecognition
of investments

$
5

Net profit for the year
Balances at March 31, 2019
Net profit for the year
Balances at March 31, 2020

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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General
Fund

Accumulated
Earnings

Total

30,000,000

7,202,114

37,202,114

-

(989,157)

(989,157)

-

517,690

517,690

30,000,000

6,730,647

36,730,647

-

298,862

298,862

30,000,000

7,029,509

37,029,509

TOURISM LOAN FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2020
With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2019
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Operating activities
Net profit
Adjustments for:
Provision for loan losses
Interest income

$

Operating loss before working capital changes
Loans advanced
Loans repaid
Interest received
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in due to related party
Net cash from (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
(Purchase) disposal of investments – net
Net cash used in investing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

298,862

517,690

206,781
(1,516,642)

(1,513,528)

(1,010,999)

(995,838)

(30,577)
1,168,592
1,655,693
(1,238)
165,571

(2,225,646)
991,369
1,384,754
(187)
(135,178)

1,947,042

(980,726)

(2,078,417)

(475,511)

(2,078,417)

(475,511)

(131,375)

(505,215)

758,820

1,264,035

627,445

758,820

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
1.

Background
The Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) was established pursuant to:
(i)
(ii)

a Trust Deed dated January 26, 2001 between the Central Bank of Barbados and the Trustees
and;
a Management Agreement dated January 26, 2001 between the Trustees and Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (“the Fund Manager” or “EGFL”).

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, the Central Bank of Barbados agreed to transfer $30 million to the
Trustees for the purpose of establishing the Tourism Loan Fund.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and is managed by Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited (the “Fund Manager” or “EGFL”). The principal place of business is Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited, “Westgate”, Monteith Gardens Barbarees Hill, St. Michael. The Investment
Committee and the Board of Directors of EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and ratification
of loans issued by the Fund.
These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Fund on July 21, 2020.
2.

Basis of Preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(b)

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
classified as available-for-sale investments.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Barbados dollars, which is the Fund’s functional currency.
These values have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
2.

Basis of Preparation, (continued)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are discussed below.
(i) Provision for loan losses
The provision for loan losses is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis. The Fund uses its
judgment to select assumptions that reflect the expected timing and amount of future payments by
customers and where applicable the expected net proceeds on realization of security.
(ii) Fair market value of investments
Fair value of a financial asset or liability is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal, or in its
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at the measurement date.
The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
The Fund values instruments carried at fair value using quoted market prices, where available.
Quoted market prices represent a Level 1 valuation. When quoted market prices are not available,
the Fund maximizes the use of observable inputs within valuation models. When all significant inputs
are observable, the valuation is classified as Level 2. Valuations that require the significant use of
unobservable inputs are considered Level 3.

10
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

(a)

Revenue recognition
Interest on deposits
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accrual basis and represents interest earned on
contractual agreements with financial institutions at agreed rates of interest.
Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
All interest accrued during the period has been recorded as income in the financial statements.
Provisions for bad debts are recorded for clients in non-accrual status where there is evidence to support
the fact that the loan is impaired.

(b)

Short term Investments
Short term investments comprising term deposits and Government of Barbados treasury bills are carried
at amortized cost.

(c)

Provision for loan losses
Specific provisions are made on individual loans, where management is of the opinion that collection is
doubtful.

(d)

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies, (continued)

(e)

Related parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related
parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

4.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with original maturity
dates of 90 days or less:
March 31
March 31
2020
2019
Cash

5.

$

627,445

758,820

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

5,482,200

3,403,783

Government-issue Series “B” Bonds
Less: Loss on derecognition of investments

4,001,512
(989,157)

4,001,512
(989,157)

Net balance

3,012,355

3,012,355

8,494,555

6,416,138

Investments

Commercial deposits/treasury bills

$

Balances, end of year

$

Included in investments is an amount of $5,482,200 (March 31, 2019: $3,403,783) representing
commercial deposits/treasury bills with maturity periods greater than 90 days. At the reporting date
the effective interest rate was 1.75% - 2.5% per annum (March 31, 2019: 2.5% per annum).
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
5.

Investments, (continued)
On October 1, 2018, the Company accepted an offer from the Government of Barbados to exchange
previously held treasury bills for an equal principal amount of Series “B” bonds. All interest accrued but
unpaid through September 30, 2018 were added to the principal amount of the Series “B” bonds
received. At the reporting date the carrying value of these bonds was $4,001,512 representing the face
value of the Series B bonds received in exchange for treasury bills previously held. Since there has been
a substantial modification to the terms of the securities, the treasury bills were derecognized and the
new Series B bonds recorded at their fair value which was estimated at $3,012,355. This loss has been
taken directly to retained earnings as it is considered to be a transaction with the Government of
Barbados in its capacity as a shareholder of the Fund. The bonds are divided into strips which have
terms ranging from five years to fifteen years, and bear interest at 1% per annum for the first three years,
2.5% in year 4, and 3.75% from year 5 to maturity.

6.

Loans Receivable
The Fund’s loans are categorized as originating loans and are carried at amortized cost. These loans
are secured by mortgage debentures and personal guarantees and are repayable between eight to
eleven years. Interest rates were between 5.25% and 10.5% at the end of 2020 (March 31, 2019: 5.25%
and 10.5%).
A loan is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of
expected cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based
on the interest rate at inception of the loan.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries
are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of profit or loss. The Fund Manager is
entitled to receive an incentive payment when the Fund recovers any principal and interest in respect
of any loan which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written off the books of the
Fund. Such an incentive payment shall be three percent (3%) on the net amounts recovered.
At March 31, 2020, the maturity profile of loans is as follows:
Up to
1 yr
Business Sector

$

1,889,559

Years to maturity
One to
5 yrs
2,620,867

Less allowance for loan losses

Over
5 Yrs

Total
2020

Total
2019

27,122,019

31,632,445

32,770,460

(3,681,465)

(3,474,684)

$ 27,950,980
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29,295,776

TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
7.

Corporation Tax
Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from
the payment of corporation tax in accordance with Section 56 of the Central Bank of Barbados Act, Cap.
323 C.

8.

Capital Contribution

Capital contribution

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

30,000,000

30,000,000

The capital contribution represents the original capital of the Fund provided by the Central Bank of
Barbados.
9.

Due to Related Party
Due to related party consists mainly of management fees charged during the course of the financial year
in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
(EGFL) and the Trustees of the Fund, using contractual rates.
Amounts included in due to related party represent outstanding management fees due to EGFL at year
end of $246,383 (March 31, 2019: $80,812).
These related party transactions are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions only if those terms can be substantiated. The amounts due to Enterprise Growth Fund
Limited are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

10.

Commitments
Loan commitments in respect of undisbursed loans at March 31, 2020 were $520,582 (March 31, 2019:
$551,159).
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
11.

Financial Risk Management
Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•

credit risk

•

liquidity risk

•

market risk

•

operational risk

This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s
risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the
adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions, products and services offered.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a borrower or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loans and interest receivable and its
investments.
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each borrower.
A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all borrowers are categorized according to their
credit risk profile. These assessments, which involve ascertaining the clients’ ability to service their
existing liabilities as well as the value of their securitised assets, are used in order to determine the
extent of credit risk.
Management of credit risk
The Fund employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans receivable,
by the taking of security whose value approximates to the quantum of funds advanced. The principal
collateral types for loans are:
•
•
•
•

176

Mortgages over residential/commercial properties
Charges over business assets/bill of sale
Personal guarantees
Hypothecation of deposit balances
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
12.

Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Financial investments
The Fund limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in reputable financial institutions and
Government of Barbados securities. Government securities are generally invested over a period longer
that than of term deposits with other financial institutions. The Fund has documented investment policies
in place which act as a guide to the management of credit risk on investments.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying Amount
March 31
2020

March 31
2019

Loans receivable
Investments

$

27,950,980
8,494,555

29,295,776
6,416,138

Total

$

36,445,535

35,711,914
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

12.

Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Credit quality by class of financial assets
Loans Receivable
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed though the prudent underwriting principles
established by management.
Cash and balances with financial institutions
The credit quality of financial institutions holding the Fund’s cash resources is assessed by the level of
credit worthiness and by comparison to other financial institutions. The Fund only places its cash
resources with reputable financial institutions.
The tables below show the credit quality analysis of financial assets:
March 31, 2020
Neither Past due
Nor impaired
Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

$

Past due but
not impaired

Individually
Impaired

Total

627,445

-

-

627,445

8,494,555
16,825,570

6,775,755

8,031,120

8,494,555
31,632,445

$ 25,947,570

6,775,755

8,031,120

40,754,445

March 31, 2019
Neither Past due
Nor impaired
Cash Resources
Financial investments:
Held to maturity
Loans receivable

178

$

Past due but
not impaired

Total

758,820

-

-

758,820

6,416,138
18,027,255

6,712,083

8,031,122

6,416,138
32,770,460

$ 25,202,213

6,712,083

8,031,122

39,945,418
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Individually
Impaired

TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

12.

Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Impairment Assessment
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
These comprise loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but
management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral
available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar activities or are located
in the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe that the
concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation. This has been facilitated by
using a computerised management system which tracks the quantum of funds available for lending and
other expenditure.
Analysis of financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Fund, based on their earliest possible contractual maturity, are due within
30 days (March 31, 2018 – 30 days).
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

12.

Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on investment.
Management of Market Risk
Frequent reviews and monitoring of cash resources are conducted by management in order to minimize
instances of market risk in accordance with the Fund’s Short Term Investment Policy. Further
considerations are made relating to the level of concentration of resources in financial institutions.
Exposure to currency risk
Currency risk is the potential risk of loss from fluctuating foreign exchange rates when an investor has
exposure to foreign currency or in foreign-currency-traded investments. The Fund had no significant
exposure to currency risk at the end of the financial year.
Exposure to interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from the fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. It arises when there is a mismatch between
the interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustments,
within a specified period.
An interest rate sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the impact on total profit of reasonable
possible changes in interest rates prevailing at March 31, 2019, with all other variables held constant.
The impact is illustrated and shown in the table below:
Increase (decrease) of 100 bps

Impact on comprehensive income +100 bps
Impact on comprehensive income – 100 bps
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$
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March 31
2020

March 31
2019

214,598
(214,598)

205,214
(205,214)

TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

12.

Financial Risk Management, (continued)
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated
with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations
and are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the trustees of the Fund. Key policies and procedures used in managing operating
risk involve segregation of duties, delegation of authority and financial and managerial reporting.
Mitigation of operating risk is supported by a well-defined organisational structure that segregates
operational and administrative functions. Additionally, quarterly reviews are undertaken by the trustees
of the Fund.
Financial income

Interest income on loans
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents

$

Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial income

$

March 31
2020

March 31
2019

1,394,893
121,749

1,333,892
179,636

1,516,642

1,513,528

-

-

1,516,642

1,513,528
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
13.

Fair values disclosure of financial instruments
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement
of Financial Position are as follows:

2020
Carrying
Amount
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Loans receivable, net
Interest receivable, net
Accounts payable
Due to related party

182

$

627,445
8,494,555
27,950,980
229,752
(26,840)
(246,383)
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2020
Fair
Value
627,445
8,494,555
27,950,980
229,752
(26,840)
(246,383)

2019
Carrying
Amount
758,820
6,416,138
29,295,776
368,803
(28,078)
(80,812)

2019
Fair
Value
758,820
6,416,138
29,295,776
368,803
(28,078)
(80,812)

TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)
13.

Fair value disclosure of financial instruments, (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Fund is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in Level 1.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-thecounter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in Level 3.

14.

Capital Management Policy
Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in management’s
approach to capital management during the period.
The Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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15.

Subsequent events
COVID-19 impact
Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19)
outbreak that continues to occur subsequent to year-end may have a significant negative impact on the
operations of the Fund. The extent of the impact to the financial statements of the Fund will depend on
future developments, including but not limited to (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the
restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy
overall, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Due to the nature of the entity and the
limited activity, management does not believe that financial performance of the Company would be
materially impacted.
Management has concluded that there are no other items requiring adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated up to and including the reporting date.
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